
For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD relay 
service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
Tuesday, August 12, 2014                                                                                                    City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

• National Recovery Month Proclamation – September 2014 (Jackie Jamero Berganio, King County 
Mental Health, Chemical Abuse and Dependency Services Division) 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, 
not the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes 
per speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  June 10, 2014 Special Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission; June 10, 

2014 Regular Meeting; and June 24, 2014 Special Study Session (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
C-3. Approve King County Interlocal Agreement for SoCo Park Grant Funding (Feser) 
C-4. Award Bid for Aquatics Center Roofing Project (Thomas) 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
1. Receive Comments and Consider Ordinance Extending the Moratorium on Medical Marijuana 

Production and Processing Facilities, Dispensaries, and Collective Gardens for Six Months (Springer) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Coal Train Briefing (Lindskov) 
3. Resolution Approving Development Agreement with Covington Mixed Use (Lyons) 
4. Report on Covington Days (Slate) 
5. Review Proposals for City Manager Recruitment (Beaufrere) 
6. 2014 Second Quarter Financial Report (Hendrickson) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
  
ADJOURN 

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


Consent Agenda Item C-1 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  August 12, 2014   
 
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  JUNE 10, 2014 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL JOINT 

STUDY SESSION WITH PARKS & RECREATION COMMISSION MINUTES; 
JUNE 10, 2014 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES; AND JUNE 
24, 2014 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL STUDY SESSION MINUTES 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Sharon G. Scott, City Clerk 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Proposed Minutes 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance   _____ Resolution     X     Motion              Other  
 

Councilmember __________ moves, Councilmember ___________ 
seconds, to approve the June 10, 2014 City Council Special Joint 
Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission Minutes; 
June 10, 2014 City Council Regular Meeting Minutes; and June 
24, 2014 City Council Special Study Session Minutes. 

 
 
 

 

1 of 106



Unapproved Draft – June 10, 2013 Special Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission 
Submitted for Approval:  August 12, 2014 
 
 

City of Covington 
City Council Special Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission 

Tuesday, June 10, 2014 
 
(This meeting was recorded and will be retained for a period of six years from the date of the 
meeting). 
 
The Special Joint Study Session with the Parks & Recreation Commission was called to order in 
the City Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, 
June 10, 2014, at 6:05 p.m., with Mayor Harto presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Margaret Harto, Joe Cimaomo, Mark Lanza, Jim Scott, and Jeff Wagner. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Marlla Mhoon and Wayne Snoey. 
 
PARKS & RECREATION COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: 
Liz Fast, Steven Pand, and William Pand. 
 
PARKS & RECREATION COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: 
David Aldous, Conni Elliott, Troy McIntyre, and Laura Morrissey. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Derek Matheson, City Manager; Don Vondran, Public Works Director; Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel 
Manager; Kevin Klason, Covington Police Chief; Richard Hart, Community Development Director; 
Scott Thomas, Parks & Recreation Director; and Angie Feser, Parks Planner; Bob Lindskov, City 
Engineer; Darren Mhoon, Management Assistant; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive 
Assistant. 
 
Mayor Margaret Harto called the joint study session to order. 
 
ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION: 
1.  Suwanee, Georgia Town Center Development Presentation. 
 
Community Development Director Richard Hart gave the presentation on this item. 
 
Councilmembers and Commissioners asked questions, and Mr. Hart provided responses. 
 
2.  Parks Capital Improvement Program. 
 
Parks & Recreation Director Scott Thomas and Parks Planner Angie Feser gave the staff report 
on this item. 
 

2 of 106



Unapproved Draft – June 10, 2013 Special Study Session with Parks & Recreation Commission 
Submitted for Approval:  August 12, 2014 
 
 
Councilmembers and Commissioners provided comments and asked questions and Mr. Thomas 
provided responses. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:59 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 
 

3 of 106



Unapproved Draft – June 10, 2014 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 12, 2014 
 
 

City of Covington 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, June 10, 2014 
 
(This meeting was recorded and will be retained for a period of six years from the date of the 
meeting). 
 
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, June 10, 
2014, at 7:12 p.m., with Mayor Margaret Harto presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Margaret Harto, Joe Cimaomo, Mark Lanza, Jim Scott, and Jeff Wagner. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Marlla Mhoon and Wayne Snoey. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Scott moved and Mayor Pro Tem Wagner seconded to 
excuse Councilmember Mhoon who was on vacation and Councilmember Snoey who had a 
work commitment.  Vote:  5-0.  Motion carried. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Derek Matheson, City Manager; Don Vondran, Public Works Director; Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel 
Manager; Kevin Klason, Covington Police Chief; Richard Hart, Community Development 
Director; Karla Slate, Communications & Marketing Manager; Scott Thomas, Parks & Recreation 
Director; Sara Springer, City Attorney; Bob Lindskov, City Engineer; and Sharon Scott, City 
Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Harto opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Mayor Pro Tem Wagner moved and Councilmember Lanza seconded to 
approve the Agenda.  Vote:  5-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION: 

• Covington Lobbyist Briahna Taylor gave an end of session recap and report on what to 
expect in 2015. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
 
 

4 of 106



Unapproved Draft – June 10, 2014 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 12, 2014 
 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Minutes:  May 13, 2014 City Council Special Joint Meeting with Covington Economic 

Development Council and Covington Chamber Board Minutes. 
 
C-2. Vouchers: Vouchers #31113-31152, Including ACH Payments in the Amount of 

$1,527,817.50, Dated May 28, 2014. 
 

C-3. Approve Agreement with Tahoma School District for Aquatics Property Lease. 
 

C-4. Approve Design Contract with Puget Sound Energy for Undergrounding Design. 
 

C-5. Approve Agreement for Stormwater System Cleaning. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 14-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, ADOPTING A SIX-
YEAR (2015 – 2020) TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM AND DIRECTING THE SAME TO BE FILED 
WITH THE STATE SECRETARY OF TRANSPORTATION 
AND TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT BOARD 
 

C-6. Adopt Resolution to Adopt 2015-2020 Transportation Improvement Program. 
 

C-7. Accept Community Development Block Grant Contract for Jenkins Creek Park.  
 
Council Action:  Mayor Pro Tem Wagner moved and Councilmember Cimaomo seconded 
to approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  5-0.  Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1. LED Street Lights Briefing. 
 
Public Works Director Don Vondran gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to direct staff to research the feasibility of 
grant funding. 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff discussed Future Agenda Topics and made comments. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
Mary Pritchard, Covington resident, spoke on traffic calming measures in front of the 
Esplanade shopping center. 

5 of 106



Unapproved Draft – June 10, 2014 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 12, 2014 
 
 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:00 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 

6 of 106



Unapproved Draft – June 24 2014 Special Study Session Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 14, 2014 
 
 

City of Covington 
City Council Special Study Session Minutes 

Tuesday, June 24, 2014 
 
The Special Study Session was called to order in the City Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st 
Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, June 24, 2014, at 6:04 p.m., with Mayor 
Harto presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Margaret Harto, Joe Cimaomo, Mark Lanza, Jim Scott, Wayne Snoey, and Jeff Wagner. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Marlla Mhoon. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Derek Matheson, City Manager; Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director; Kevin Klason, Covington Police 
Chief; Richard Hart, Community Development Director; Scott Thomas, Parks & Recreation Director; 
Bob Lindskov, City Engineer; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Margaret Harto called the study session to order. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved and Councilmember Lanza seconded to 
approve the agenda.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
Mayor Harto noted that Councilmember Mhoon was still on vacation in Fiji. 
 
ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION: 
1.  Fund Balance. 
 
Finance Director Rob Hendrickson began the presentation, followed by Parks & Recreation 
Director Scott Thomas and City Engineer Bob Lindskov. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to direct staff to prepare decision cards on 
the Aquatic Center rental room construction, Gerry Crick Skate Park renovation, 164th 
Avenue SE – SE 264th Street to SE 269th Street pedestrian improvement design costs, 
backhoe replacement, and upgrade of four street maintenance fleet service vehicles. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:02 p.m. 

7 of 106



Unapproved Draft – June 24 2014 Special Study Session Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 14, 2014 
 
 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Senior Joan Michaud     Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 

8 of 106



Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 12, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S)

 

:  Vouchers #31316-31316, in the Amount of $300.00, Dated July 15, 
2014; Vouchers #31317-31374, including ACH Payments, in the Amount of $273,240.74, 
Dated July 22, 2014; Vouchers #31375-31375, in the Amount of $500.00, Dated July 31, 2014; 
Vouchers #31376-31376, in the Amount of $385.70, Dated August 1, 2014; Paylocity Payroll 
Checks #1002632101-1002632115 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the Amount of 
$173,277.22, Dated July 18, 2014; and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002682745-1002682759 
and Paylocity Checks #1002682810-1002682810 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in 
the Amount of $181,170.14, Dated August 1, 2014. 

PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers #31316-31316, in the Amount 
of $300.00, Dated July 15, 2014; Vouchers #31317-31374, including ACH 
Payments, in the Amount of $273,240.74, Dated July 22, 2014; Vouchers 
#31375-31375, in the Amount of $500.00, Dated July 31, 2014; Vouchers 
#31376-31376, in the Amount of $385.70, Dated August 1, 2014; Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1002632101-1002632115 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct 
Deposits in the Amount of $173,277.22, Dated July 18, 2014; and Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1002682745-1002682759 and Paylocity Checks 
#1002682810-1002682810 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $181,170.14, Dated August 1, 2014. 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 

 

9 of 106



10 of 106



11 of 106



12 of 106



13 of 106



14 of 106



15 of 106



16 of 106



17 of 106



18 of 106



19 of 106



20 of 106



21 of 106



22 of 106



23 of 106



24 of 106



25 of 106



26 of 106



27 of 106



28 of 106



29 of 106



30 of 106



Consent Agenda Item C-3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 12, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  AUTHORIZE INTERIM CITY MANAGER TO SIGN AN INTERLOCAL 

AGREEMENT AMENDMENT FOR GRANT ACCEPTANCE FROM KING 
COUNTY CONSERVATION FUTURES FOR SOCO PARK/JENKINS CREEK 
TRAIL  

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Scott Thomas, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Amendment to the Conservation Futures Interlocal Cooperation Agreement between 
King County and the City of Covington for open space acquisition projects.  

 
PREPARED BY:  Angie Feser, Parks Planner 
 
EXPLANATION: 
An application to the King County Conservation Futures program for SoCo Park and Jenkins 
Creek acquisition was submitted in 2013.  In December 2013 the King County Council passed 
Ordinance 17707 which appropriated $200,000 in Conservation Futures Levy proceeds to the 
City of Covington for this project. In April 2014 the King County Council passed Ordinance 
17795, authorizing the King County Executive to enter into an interlocal agreement for the 
disbursement of Conservation Futures Funds appropriated in Ordinance 17707.  
 
Approving this motion authorizes the Interim City Manager to sign an amendment to the 
standing Interlocal Cooperation Agreement, thus providing $200,000 toward the acquisition cost 
of SoCo Park/Jenkins Creek trail. 
 
In signing this agreement the city is committing to acquiring property for the future SoCo Park, 
to provide a trail connection between the planned Covington Town Center and the city-wide trail 
system that connects with other Covington parks and open spaces, as well as to provide habitat 
protection along Jenkins Creek.   
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
The King County Conservation Futures grant is a necessary component of acquisition funding 
for SoCo Park.  If the grant agreement is not approved, then there will be a significant negative 
impact on the city’s ability to purchase the property, in addition to the city’s inability to meet the 
matching requirements necessary with the submitted 2014 Washington Wildlife and Recreation 
Program state grant application. 
   
FISCAL IMPACT:   
Revenue from the grant is $200,000.  The total estimated acquisition cost is $1,117,830.  An 
additional $450,000 has been preliminarily awarded from the 2014 King County Conservation 
Futures program and, if successful, matching funds from the 2014 WWRP grant will also be 
utilized on this project.  

31 of 106



 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution     X   Motion         Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to authorize the Interim City Manager to execute the Amendment to 
the Conservation Futures Interlocal Cooperation Agreement for acquisition 
for SoCo Park/Jenkins Creek Trail. 
 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Parks and Recreation Director, Finance Director, City Attorney, Interim City 
Manager 
 

 

32 of 106



AMENDMENT TO THE CONSERVATION FUTURES 
INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN KING COUNTY AND THE CITY OF COVINGTON 
FOR OPEN SPACE ACQUISITION PROJECTS 

 
 
Preamble 
 
The King County Council, through Ordinance 9128, has established a Conservation Futures 
Levy Fund and appropriated proceeds to King County, the City of Seattle and certain suburban 
cities. This amendment is entered into to provide for the allocation of additional funds made 
available for open space acquisition.   
 
THIS AMENDMENT is entered into between the CITY OF COVINGTON and KING 
COUNTY, and amends and attaches to and is part thereof of the existing Interlocal Cooperation 
Agreement entered into between the parties on the 28th day of January, 2003. 
 
The parties agree to the following amendments: 
 
Amendment 1: Article 1. Recitals 
 
A paragraph is hereby added to the Recitals Section to provide for a Conservation Futures Levy 
Fund allocation for the South Covington Park/Jenkins Creek acquisition Project, and hereafter 
reads: 
 
• On December 9, 2013 the King County Council passed Ordinance 17707, which 

appropriated a total of Two Hundred Thousand dollars ($200,000) in Conservation 
Futures Levy proceeds to the City of Covington for the South Covington Park/Jenkins 
Creek acquisition Project. On April 28, 2014 The King County Council passed Ordinance 
17795, authorizing the King County Executive to enter into an interlocal agreement with 
the City of Seattle and the suburban cities for the disbursement of Conservation Futures 
Funds appropriated in Ordinance 17707.  

 
Amendment 2:  Article V. Conditions of Agreement 
 
Section 5.1 is amended to include reference to Attachment B, which lists a 2014 
Conservation Futures Levy Allocation for the South Covington Park/Jenkins Creek 
acquisition Project.  
 
Amendment 3: Article VII. Responsibilities of County 
 
The first two sentences of this article are amended to include references to Attachment B, which 
lists a 2014 Conservation Futures Levy Allocation and for the South Covington Park/Jenkins 
Creek acquisition project as follows: 

ATTACHMENT 1

33 of 106



2 
Amendment B 
Annual CFT Interlocal Covington-King County:  2014 CFT proceeds 
 

 
Subject to the terms of this agreement, the County will provide Conservation 
Futures Levy Funds in the amounts shown in Attachments A through B to be used 
for the Projects listed in Attachments A through B.  The City may request 
additional funds; however, the County has no obligation to provide funds to the 
City for the Projects in excess of the total amounts shown in Attachments A 
through B.  The County assumes no obligation for the future support of the 
Projects described herein except as expressly set forth in this agreement. 

 
Amendment 4:  Attachment B 
 
The attachments to the interlocal agreement are hereby amended by adding Attachment B, which 
is hereby attached to the interlocal agreement, incorporated therein and made a part thereof.  
 
In all other respects, the terms, conditions, duties and obligations of both parties shall remain the 
same as agreed to in the Interlocal Cooperation Agreement as previously amended. 
 
This document shall be attached to the existing Interlocal Cooperation Agreement. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, authorized representatives of the parties hereto have signed their 
names in the spaces set forth below: 
 
 
KING COUNTY     CITY OF COVINGTON 
 
 
____________________________   ________________________  
Dow Constantine     Robert Hendrickson 
King County Executive    City Manager 
             
Date: _________________    Date________________ 
Acting under the authority of     Acting under the authority of 
Ordinance 17795     Ordinance:     
 
    
Approved as to form:     Approved as to form: 
             
 
____________________________   ________________________ 
Dan Satterberg      
King County Prosecuting Attorney   City Attorney 

 
  
 

34 of 106



3 
 
Amendment B 
Annual CFT Interlocal Covington-King County: 2014 CFT proceeds 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

2014 CONSERVATION FUTURES LEVY 
CITY OF COVINGTON ALLOCATION 

 
 

 

Jurisdiction Project Allocation 

Covington South Covington Park/Jenkins Creek 

 

$ 200,000 

TOTAL  $ 200,000 

 
 
Project Description: 
 
(Ordinance 17795): 

1122034 Covington -WLCF South Covington Park  
This new project consists of three parcels totaling 5.65 acres on SE Wax Road, in the Jenkins 
Creek corridor. There is a dual goal for the project. The first is to create a trail connection 
between the planned Covington Town Center, which is located nearby to the northeast, and a 
city-wide trail system that connects with other Covington parks and open spaces. The second 
goal is habitat protection along Jenkins Creek, which runs parallel to the future trail. The project 
site is critically located at a planned trail crossing on SE Wax Road. 
 

City of Covington - South Covington Park/Jenkins Creek              $ 200,000 

 

35 of 106



 Consent Agenda Item C-4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 12, 2014 

 
SUBJECT: CONSIDER AWARDING BID TO THE LOWEST RESPONSIVE BIDDER AND 

AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A 
CONTRACT WITH THE AWARDED BIDDER FOR THE AQUATIC CENTER 
REROOFING PROJECT. 

 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
1. Bid Tabulation Summary 
 
PREPARED BY: Scott Thomas, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
EXPLANATION:  
The city requested bids from all roofing contractors on the Municipal Research and Services 
(MRSC) Small Works Roster on July 17, 2014.  Seven companies were sent bid specifications 
and plans.  We received bids from four companies.  The city’s contracted architect has reviewed 
each bid proposal and determined that all four of the bids were responsive.  The lowest bid 
proposal was submitted by Meyer Brothers for $100,573.50.  The Bid Tabulation Summary is 
attached. (Attachment 1) 
  
Given that we received a qualifying bid within our budget, staff is recommending that the 
council pass a motion awarding the bid to Meyer Brothers as the lowest responsive bidder.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
1. Reject all bids and rebid the project.  As three of the four bids from this process came in 

below the architect’s cost estimate, rebidding the project is unlikely to generate a lower bid. 
2. Reject all bids and choose not to proceed with the aquatic center roofing project.  

Terminating the project will require the city to decline the state grant funds and repay that 
portion of the grant used to date for project development. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The Aquatic Center project is funded by a Washington State Department of Commerce grant of 
$388,000.  The grant eligible project costs to date are approximately $35,785 all of which has 
been reimbursed by the grant.  There are ample funds remaining to complete the roofing portion 
of the project.  If council chooses to terminate the project, city funds will be needed to repay the 
state for grant funds that have already been reimbursed.   
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:            Ordinance           Resolution      X     Motion        Other 
  

Council member ______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to award the bid for the Aquatic Center Roofing Project to Meyer 
Brothers as the lowest responsive bidder and to authorize the Interim City 
Manager to execute a contract with Meyer Brothers for the project work.   

  
REVIEWED BY:  Interim City Manager, City Attorney, Interim Deputy Finance 
Director 

36 of 106



ATTACHMENT 4

37 of 106



Agenda Item 1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 12, 2014 

 
SUBJECT:  PUBLIC HEARING AND CONSIDERATION OF AN ORDINANCE 

EXTENDING THE MORATORIUM ON MEDICAL MARIJUANA 
PRODUCTION AND PROCESSING FACILITIES, DISPENSARIES, AND 
COLLECTIVE GARDENS FOR SIX MONTHS 

 
RECOMMENDED BY: Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
 Sara Springer, City Attorney  
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Proposed ordinance extending said moratorium for an additional six months. 
 

PREPARED BY:  Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The purpose of this agenda bill action is to hold a public hearing to allow public testimony and 
take action extending the moratorium on medical marijuana production and processing facilities, 
dispensaries, and collective gardens for an additional six months.  
 
In August 2011, the city council established a twelve-month moratorium on the establishment, 
location, operation, licensing, maintenance, or continuation of medical marijuana dispensaries, 
production facilities, processing facilities, and collective gardens. That moratorium was extended 
for an additional six months in August 2012, February 2013, August 2013, and February 2014. 
This proposed ordinance would further extend the moratorium for an additional six months, until 
February 2015, unless earlier terminated.   
 
As previously briefed to council, cities had hoped that during the last legislative session the state 
Liquor Control Board (LCB) and the state legislature would have developed a new regulatory 
framework for medical marijuana substantially similar to the recently adopted state regulations 
for recreational marijuana. However, unfortunately, despite a review by the LCB regarding 
recommended medical marijuana regulation changes, the legislature failed to act on the issue in 
the last legislative session.  
 
Given the ambiguity that still remains in current state law regarding medical marijuana, and the 
federal government’s direction that any state legalization of marijuana should be regulated 
through a robust regulatory system (which is currently in place for recreational marijuana but not 
yet for medical marijuana), it remains a near certainty that the state medical marijuana regulatory 
landscape will change. What is in doubt is the scope and timing of that change. 
 
Because current state regulations for medical marijuana are still ambiguous and insufficient, and 
because it is undisputed that the current state regulations need to be updated, staff recommends 
for the city to maintain its current moratorium on medical marijuana facilities and collective 
gardens until such new regulations are adopted by the state legislature.  

38 of 106



 
City staff will continually monitor the evolving legal and regulatory framework concerning 
medical marijuana.  
 
The moratorium may be terminated, for any reason, prior to the end of the six-month term. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 

1. Let the moratorium expire. This option is not recommended by staff because if the 
moratorium expires without any further action by the city, there will be no local 
regulations in place to govern the placement and operation of medical marijuana 
collective gardens and production, processing, or dispensing facilities. Should the council 
desire to lift the moratorium, staff recommends for council to follow the interim 
regulation option below. 
 

2. Adopt interim zoning regulations for medical marijuana. Given the uncertainty in the 
timing of the state’s revisions to medical marijuana regulations, if the council desires to 
terminate the moratorium staff recommends for the council to adopt interim zoning 
regulations as a place holder until the state legislature changes the state regulations.  
 
This option is not favored by staff, however, as any interim zoning regulations would be 
based on the current state regulations that still remain ambiguous and contradictory; 
therefore, once the state regulations are changed, any uses established under the interim 
zoning regulations will be grandfathered in as prior non-confirming uses. Depending on 
the extent of the future changes to the state’s medical marijuana regulations, the disparity 
of allowed uses and regulations of medical marijuana between the current and future 
regulations could be significant. The city would then have to amortize out the non-
confirming uses over time, which is a process that is ideally avoided if possible.  
 
If council does desire to explore interim regulations, staff advises council to still pass the 
current moratorium so that it remains in place while the interim zoning regulations are 
drafted—it can then be terminated once the interim regulations are passed. 
 

3. Prohibit medical marijuana uses. Since the last extension of this moratorium, the state 
appellate court ruled in favor of the City of Kent’s ability to ban collective gardens. The 
court ruled that the current state regulations do not allow collective gardens, as they 
specify that only individuals on a state registry may establish a collective garden, 
however the governor vetoed the portions of the law that created a state registry—i.e. if 
there is no state registry, then there is no legal way for individuals to comply with the 
legal requirements for establishing a collective garden. This ruling, combined with the 
general determination that current state law prohibits medical marijuana dispensaries, 
forms the basis for prohibiting medical marijuana uses.  
 
However, this ruling only further highlights the conflict that exists in the state’s current 
medical marijuana regulations and the need for the state legislature to address and cure 
those conflicts. Again, because this is undoubtedly an ever evolving regulatory issue, 

39 of 106



staff does not recommend for the city to actively ban medical marijuana uses, but rather 
continue to extend the moratorium until new regulations are adopted by the state. 

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Staff time 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:     X    Ordinance         Resolution     _   Motion     _   Other 

 
Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to adopt an ordinance to extend the moratorium on medical 
marijuana collective gardens, production and processing facilities, 
dispensaries, and related businesses for an additional six-months.  
 

REVIEWED BY:  Interim City Manager; City Attorney; Interim Deputy Finance Director  

40 of 106



ORDINANCE NO. 10-14 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, TO EXTEND THE 
MORATORIUM ON THE ESTABLISHMENT, LOCATION, 
OPERATION, LICENSING, MAINTENANCE, OR 
CONTINUATION OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA 
DISPENSARIES, PRODUCTION FACILITIES, PROCESSING 
FACILITIES, COLLECTIVE GARDENS, AND RELATED 
BUSINESSES WITHIN THE CITY OF COVINGTON FOR SIX 
MONTHS; PROVIDING FOR A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE 
MORATORIUM; ADOPTING FINDINGS OF FACT 
SUPPORTING THE MORATORIUM ADOPTED BY 
ORDINANCE NOs. 08-11, 12-12, 01-13, 07-13, and 05-14; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY. 

 
WHEREAS, on August 9, 2011, the Covington City Council passed Ordinance No. 08-

11, which declared an emergency necessitating the immediate imposition of a moratorium on the 
establishment, location, operation, licensing, maintenance, or continuation of medical marijuana 
dispensaries, production facilities, processing facilities, and collective gardens, as more 
particularly described in Ordinance No. 08-11; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 24, 2012, the Covington City Council passed Ordinance No. 12-12, 

which provided for a six-month extension of the moratorium on the establishment, location, 
operation, licensing, maintenance, or continuation of medical marijuana dispensaries, production 
facilities, processing facilities, collective gardens, or any business or organization offering any 
type of service relating to collective gardens or to producing, processing, or dispensing medical 
marijuana; and 

 
WHEREAS, on January 8, 2013, August 27, 2013, and February 25, 2014, the Covington 

City Council passed Ordinance Nos. 01-13, 07-13, and 05-14, respectively, which provided for 
additional six-month extensions of said moratorium; and  

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 69.51A of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW), creates an 

affirmative defense for qualifying patients to the charge of possession of marijuana, and provides 
that such patients can, as an alternative to growing marijuana for their own use, designate a 
designated provider who can provide medical marijuana to only one patient at a time; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Department of Health has opined that “the law 
[current Chapter 69.51A RCW] does not allow dispensaries” and that it is “not legal to buy or 
sell marijuana,” but the Department of Health has left enforcement of the law to local officials; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, a recent ruling of the state appellate court ruled that collective gardens were 
not authorized under current state regulations due to the lack of a state registry; and 
 

ATTACHMENT 1

41 of 106



 
 

WHEREAS, the U.S. Attorneys for Washington State have reiterated that marijuana 
possession, production, and distribution is a federal criminal offense and that local officials and 
employees would not be immune to prosecution under the federal Controlled Substances Act, 21 
U.S.C.§801 et seq., even if state law decriminalized the use, possession, and production of 
marijuana for medical purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Covington currently has no licensing, zoning, or land use 

requirements that address collective gardens for medical marijuana production or that address 
medical marijuana production, processing, or dispensing facilities, should such dispensaries be 
determined to be authorized; and 

 
WHEREAS, unregulated medical marijuana uses are anticipated to have negative 

secondary impacts including a possible increase of criminal activity in the area of collective 
gardens, a possible increase in illegal drug activity in the area of the collective gardens, possible 
illegal distribution of medical marijuana, and may present health and safety concerns related to 
the handling of chemicals used in the growing and processing of marijuana, the ventilation of 
collective gardens and related air quality issues, and the electrical wiring of collective garden 
facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Covington City Council established a moratorium to prevent the location 

and vesting of any medical marijuana collective gardens or medical marijuana production, 
processing, or dispensing facilities within the city while the city lacks the necessary tools to 
ensure regulation of the negative secondary impacts and health and safety concerns and to 
maintain the status quo while legal, political, and policy and city code impacts are studied and 
considered; and 

 
WHEREAS, given the continuing uncertainty of the legal status and regulations 

governing medical marijuana collective gardens, production facilities, processing facilities, and 
dispensaries under the current state law, and given the possibility of the state legislature 
changing state medical marijuana regulations to better confirm with the regulations adopted for 
recreational marijuana uses, the city requires additional time for continued thorough legal review 
of the complicated legal framework that currently exists and is still evolving; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city must extend the moratorium on the establishment, location, 

licensing, maintenance, or continuation of medical marijuana dispensaries, production facilities, 
processing facilities, collective gardens, and related businesses for six months, to act as a stop-
gap measure to provide an opportunity for the state to adopt new medical marijuana regulations 
and for legal clarification of the city’s ability to regulate the siting and activities of collective 
gardens and medical marijuana dispensaries, production facilities, processing facilities, and 
related businesses if deemed legal, and to avoid the unregulated establishment of collective 
gardens within the city with rights contrary to and inconsistent with any revision the city may 
make to its regulatory scheme as a result of the city’s continued consideration of this matter; and  

 
WHEREAS, on August 12, 2014, the city council held a public hearing on the 

moratorium as required by RCW 35A.63.220, and on that date accepted testimony from all 
members of the public desiring to be heard on the subject; and 

42 of 106



 
 

 
WHEREAS, based upon the public testimony received on August 12, 2014, and based 

upon additional materials presented by city staff, a moratorium of limited duration is in the 
public interest; and 

 
WHEREAS, on August 12, 2014, the city council considered the foregoing facts, 

materials, and testimony, and deliberated on the issue of whether to continue the moratorium; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, RCW 35A.63.220 authorizes the city council to adopt land use moratoria; 

and 
 
WHEREAS, on August 12, 2014, the city’s SEPA Responsible Official determined that 

the moratorium is exempt from SEPA under RCW 43.21.030(2)(c); 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Adoption of Defined Terms. For the purpose of this ordinance, the definitions 
of “Medical marijuana dispensary”, “Medical marijuana processing facility”, “Medical 
marijuana production facility”, and “Medical marijuana collective garden” in Ordinance No. 08-
11 are hereby adopted by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

 
Section 2. Findings of Fact. In accordance with RCW 35A.63.220, which requires the 

city council to adopt findings of fact justifying the adoption of moratoria, the “WHEREAS” 
clauses set forth above are hereby adopted as the city council’s findings of fact in support of the 
moratorium imposed by this ordinance and are by this reference incorporated herein as if set 
forth in their entirety.  

 
Section 3. Moratorium Expiration. This six-month moratorium shall expire six-months 

after the Effective Date, unless earlier terminated.  
 

Section 4. Severability. Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
ordinance, or its application to any person or circumstance, be declared unconstitutional or 
otherwise invalid for any reason, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state 
or federal law or regulation, such decision or preemption shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 

 
Section 5. Corrections. Upon the approval of the City Attorney, the City Clerk is 

authorized to make any necessary corrections to this ordinance including, but not limited to, the 
correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection 
numbers, and any reference thereto.  

 
Section 6. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be published in the official newspaper of 

the city and shall take full force and effect five days after the date of publication 
 

43 of 106



 
 

ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of August, 2014.  
 

      
Mayor Margaret Harto 

 
PUBLISHED:  August 15, 2014 
EFFECTIVE:   August 20, 2014   

ATTESTED: 
 
      
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
      
Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 

44 of 106



  Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 12, 2014 

 
SUBJECT: STAFF BRIEFING AND COUNCIL DISCUSSION REGARDING COAL TRAINS 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Interim City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
1. Impact of the Staggers Rail Act of 1980 
2. Kent’s Gateway Pacific Terminal background and Party of Record request 
3. Bellingham’s Community Bill of Rights Initiative  
4. Eugene Resolution Opposing Transport and Export of Coal 
 
PREPARED BY: Robert Lindskov, City Engineer 
 
EXPLANATION:  
 
At the May 13, 2014 regular council meeting, the council requested city staff to provide an 
update, as well as background information, regarding the coal trains expected to travel through 
the Covington area due to the Pacific International Terminals (“Pacific”) export facility currently 
proposed to be developed at Cherry Point in northwest Washington. This Blue Sheet is intended 
to provide an update on the status of that project; background information regarding the 
regulation of the transport of coal via railways, including actions that the cities of Bellingham, 
and Eugene have already taken regarding coal trains; and to seek direction from council 
regarding any desired next steps.   
 

A. Status of Pacific International Terminals Export Facility  
 
Pacific has submitted development applications to construct the largest coal export facility in 
North America at Cherry Point in northwest Washington.  The Gateway Pacific Terminal (GPT) 
would be operated by SSA Marine, a globally known maritime services corporation.  Coal mined 
in Montana and Wyoming would be hauled by BNSF rail lines through Idaho, through the 
Columbia River Gorge, and then up the Puget Sound coast, passing through Kent, Seattle, 
Everett, and Bellingham.  The new trips generated by the operation of the GPT are expected to 
transport up to 54 million tons of coal per year.   
 
The GPT project is currently going through an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) review 
under both NEPA and SEPA, conducted by three co-lead jurisdictions: Whatcom County, the 
Washington State Department of Ecology, and the US Army Corps of Engineers. During the 
initial scoping period, which closed in January of 2013, 125,000 comments were submitted.  The 
City of Kent offered comments (see Attachment 2) on the combined NEPA and SEPA EIS scope 
and requested that they become a Party of Record to the EIS.  As determined from the scoping 
period, the EIS will cover the site proposal, the vessel traffic, and the rail traffic affiliated with 
the proposal.  The Draft EIS is expected to be published in mid-2015, after which there will be a 
public review period for all interested parties to review the environmental impacts and submit 

45 of 106



comments to the co-lead jurisdictions for review.  Responses will then be provided in the Final 
EIS. 
 

B. Regulation of Coal Transport and Actions of Other Jurisdictions 
 
The Staggers Rail Act of 1980 greatly reduces federal regulatory control over virtually any 
aspect of rail freight operations. (Attachment 1)  This federal deregulation limits nearly any 
action that a city or county can take to affect the type of commodities that travel via the railroads 
in their jurisdictions. Given this restriction, some communities have approved resolutions to 
officially oppose coal train movement through their communities, if nothing else than to go on 
record with their opposition.  
 
In 2012, a citizens’ initiative referred to as the Bellingham Community Bill of Rights was 
submitted as a proposed ballot measure. (Attachment 3) The initiative was largely in opposition 
to the development of the GPT and proposed to establish a local Bill of Rights, recognizing the 
fundamental right to clean air and water, to local self-government, the rights of ecosystems to 
exist and flourish, and prohibit the transportation of coal within the City of Bellingham, among 
other provisions. A Whatcom County Superior Court judge granted the City of Bellingham an 
injunction that ultimately blocked the Whatcom County Auditor from putting the initiative on the 
ballot.  The judge said that the initiative, with its coal transport ban and Community Bill of 
Rights, exceeded the scope of the city government’s power as it attempted to nullify state and 
federal laws. 
 
In Eugene, Oregon in 2011, the Oregon International Port of Coos Bay signed an exclusive 
negotiating agreement with an anonymous company interested in shipping coal from the Port.  
The proposed development, called Project Mainstay, included a new terminal that would have 
shipped 6-10 million tons of coal per year.  In response to citizen concerns and huge turn-outs in 
public forums, the city adopted a resolution that opposed the transport of coal for export through 
Eugene. (Attachment 4) In the resolution the city also supported the Oregon governor’s request 
to have a federal agency prepare a programmatic and comprehensive EIS on the impacts of coal 
hauling and export.  Ultimately the developers pulled out of Project Mainstay due to rising 
project costs.  
 
In March of 2013, Governor Inslee and Oregon Governor Kitzhaber wrote a letter to the White 
House requesting a study of the climate-change and air-pollution effects of coal leases on federal 
lands and export of that coal to Asia. Although environmental agencies are already reviewing 
environmental impacts of the GPT on potential NW terminals, the governors’ request is to study 
the broader effects of coal burning. 
 

C. Council Next Steps 
 

At the May 13, 2014 regular council meeting, a citizen expressed concerns regarding airborne 
particulates and coal dust from coal trains and requested council to: 1) formally recognize coal 
train hazards; 2) make a commitment to review and comment on the environmental impact 
statement for the GPT project as Kent did; 3) explore mitigation to protect the Covington 
community from any adverse impacts of coal transport; and 4) create local awareness of the 

46 of 106



environmental impacts of coal transport through the media and presentations to homeowner 
associations, civic clubs, schools, and local businesses. 
 
As noted above, the city is prohibited from adopting any regulations deviating from state or 
federal regulations. Accordingly, in addressing potential environmental impacts of coal transport 
the city is generally limited to taking action through a position statement made by resolution, 
participation in the review and comment process of the GPT EIS (similar to Kent), and/or 
informal community messaging. 
 
Staff is seeking direction from the council regarding any desired next steps on this issue.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:              Ordinance             Resolution            Motion      X     Other 
 

PROVIDE INPUT TO STAFF. 
 
REVIEWED BY:   Interim City Manager, Interim Deputy Finance Director, City Attorney 

47 of 106



Joel Palley 202-493-6409 

Office of Policy 

Office of Rail Policy and Development 

Federal Railroad Administration 

March 2011 

 

IMPACT OF THE STAGGERS RAIL ACT OF 1980 

 

With the passage of the Staggers rail Act of 1980 and its implementation by the Interstate 

Commerce Commission (ICC, now the Surface Transportation Board (STB)), many regulatory 

restraints on the railroad industry were removed, providing the industry increased flexibility to 

adjust their rates and tailor services to meet shipper needs and their own revenue 

requirements.  As a result, 30 years after deregulation, the railroad industry’s financial health 

has improved significantly, service to rail customers has improved while overall rates have 

decreased, and rail safety, regardless of the measure, has improved. 

Background:  Prior to 1980, economic regulation prevented railroads from any flexibility in 

pricing needed to meet both intra as well as intermodal competition.  Regulation also 

prohibited carriers from restructuring their systems, including abandoning redundant and light 

density lines, a necessity for controlling cost.  Added to these problems was the industry’s 

inability to cover inflation due to the regulatory time lag in rate adjustments.  As a 

consequence, nine carriers were bankrupt, the industry had a low return on investment and 

was unable to raise capital, and faced a steady decline in market share. 

The effects that Staggers had on the industry have been substantial.  In the 30-year period 

before 1980, railroad market share measured in revenue ton-miles declined by 33 percent, 

from 56.1 to 37.5 percent.  Market share in the post-Staggers era became stable and has 

increased to over 40 percent.  Other measures show similar improvement.  Return on 

investment has averaged nearly 8 percent between 1990 and 2009, up from a 2 percent 

average in the 1970s.  And with the industry’s improved financial condition, railroads have 

invested over $6 billion a year in roadway, structures, and equipment since the mid-1990s.  

Between 1981 and 2009, the railroads have expended $511 billion in capital improvements and 

maintenance of track and equipment.  Prior to 1980, the rail plant was in poor repair.  The 

industry also showed remarkable safety improvements since Staggers with train accident rates 

declining by 65 percent (1981—2009). 

ATTACHMENT 1

48 of 106



The Staggers Rail Act of 1980 limited the authority of the ICC, now the STB, to regulate rates 

only for traffic where competition is not effective to protect shippers.  The STB estimates that 

roughly 20 percent of traffic is still regulated.  Approximately half of all traffic on a revenue 

basis is exempt from regulation.  Traffic is considered exempt from regulation, where rates are 

not regulated when competition keeps them at levels below the statutory threshold (where the 

ratio of the revenue to regulatory variable cost of the move is less than 1.8), when a class of 

traffic has been specifically exempted (for example, all traffic moving in boxcars or trailers or 

containers on flatcars was exempted in the early 1980s), or when traffic moves under contract. 

The Staggers Act legalized railroad-shipper contracts.  These contracts represent privately 

negotiated agreements between railroads and shippers over rates, service levels, equipment, 

and minimum annual volume of traffic, just to name a few.  According to the STB, 

approximately one-third of all traffic on a revenue basis moves under contract.  Contracts 

enable railroads to improve asset utilization through better planning of their freight cars. 

Since Staggers, shippers have seen a significant decline in rates.  Freight rates adjusted for 

inflation have declined 0.5 percent a year since the passage of the Staggers Act, compared to an 

increase of nearly 3 percent per year in the 5 years prior to 1980. 

In 1996, oversight of rail transportation contracts was limited to agricultural products by the ICC 

Termination Act of 1995 (P.L. No. 104-88, 109 Stat. 803 (1995) (ICCTA) which abolished the ICC 

and transferred the responsibility for regulating rail transportation to the STB.  The Act, 

intended to streamline the remaining economic regulation of the railroads, also shortened time 

limits for proceedings in a number of areas, such as mergers and rate cases, and has eliminated 

the tariff filing requirement for railroads. 

 

 

 

 

49 of 106



 
 
 
 

   PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
Timothy J LaPorte P.E., Public Works Director 

Phone:  253-856-5500 
Fax:  253-856-6500 

 
Address:  220 Fourth Avenue S. 

Kent, WA   98032-5895 
 
 
Background:  Pacific International Terminals has submitted applications to develop 
the largest coal export facility in North America at Cherry Point in northwest 
Washington.  The “Gateway Pacific Terminal” would be operated by SSA Marine who 
is a global leader in maritime services.  Coal mined by Peabody Energy from the 
Powder River Basin in Montana and Wyoming would be hauled by trains along 
Burlington Northern Santa Fe (BNSF) rail lines.  The coal train corridor extends from 
mines in Montana and Wyoming through Sandpoint, Idaho to Spokane, down 
through the Columbia River Gorge, then up along the Puget Sound coast, passing 
through Longview, Tacoma, Kent, Seattle, Edmonds, Everett, Mt. Vernon, 
Bellingham, Ferndale and all points in between. 
 
There is evidence to support that the coal trains would create significant adverse 
impacts on local jobs and businesses, property values, human health and quality of 
life.  The trains are expected to haul up to 54 million tons of coal per year.  Initially 
18 coal trains per day, each up to one-and-a-half miles in length, are expected to 
move along the corridor (9 full and 9 returning empty).  Substantial taxpayer 
investment may be required to support infrastructure to mitigate some of the 
potential adverse impacts created by the project.  It is questionable whether 
damages to local businesses, regional identity, communities and fisheries could 
ever be adequately mitigated.  The global impacts of coal export and coal 
combustion are significant, particularly when the future is considered.1 
 
The Public’s Opportunity to Participate:  Agencies and individuals can express 
concerns about the proposal during a period called “Scoping”.  Comments 
submitted will help inform the type and geographic scope of impacts to be studied 
in the EIS.  The EIS is the key document for agencies involved with approving or 
denying permits, permissions or leases for the project. 
 
The Scoping period lasts for 120 days and ends on Monday, January 21, 2013. 
 
Scoping comments should address which of the project’s potential impacts should 
be studied, measured and considered.  They should list the specific impacts to the 
affected party, the significance of those impacts, the direct and indirect costs of 

                                                 
1 Background paragraphs are paraphrased from information found at “coaltrains.org” 
 

ATTACHMENT 2

50 of 106



those impacts, and who will bear those costs, and what forms of direct mitigation 
should be studied. 
 
Online comments can be submitted to:  http://www.eisgatewaypacificwa.gov/get-
involved/comment 
 
City of Kent Comments:  Staff has prepared a draft letter outlining the major 
concerns to residents and businesses within the City of Kent regarding the impacts 
this proposal would create.  The City’s comments are primarily asking the agencies 
involved in the EIS to require analysis of local impacts on Transportation, 
Congestion & Safety, Public Health, Noise & Vibrations, and the Environment.  A 
copy of the draft letter is posted here. 
 
Many other cities and elected officials, individually, have already commented, 
demanding a comprehensive review for local communities.    
 
This issue was discussed at the Public Works Committee of January 14, 2013, the 
Economic & Community Development Committee meeting of January 14, 2013 and 
by the full Council at their Council Meeting of January 15, 2013. 

51 of 106



52 of 106



53 of 106



54 of 106



55 of 106



The Bellingham Herald
Previous Story

Next Story

No Coal! initiative blocked from Bellingham 
ballot
By JOHN STARK

THE BELLINGHAM HERALDAugust 3, 2012  

FacebookTwitterGoogle PlusRedditE-mailPrint

BELLINGHAM - The No Coal! initiative banning the transport of coal through the city will not get to voters 

in November.

On Friday, Aug. 3, Whatcom County Superior Court Judge Charles Snyder granted the city of Bellingham 

an injunction that blocks the Whatcom County Auditor from putting the measure on the ballot.

Before making his ruling, Snyder listened to legal arguments from attorneys representing initiative 

backers, the city and BNSF Railway Co., in a courtroom with packed benches and dozens of standing 

spectators.

Snyder said the initiative, with its coal transport ban and Community Bill of Rights, exceeded the scope of 

city government's power. Among other things, it would have attempted to nullify state and federal laws, 

Snyder said.

Besides the public expense of conducting a vote on an initiative that had no legal validity, allowing an 

election to proceed would be misleading to the voters, Snyder added.

He said the initiative would "give the people in the community the impression they are doing something 

they cannot. ... It clearly would diminish faith in city government."

Before he made his ruling, Snyder posed sharp questions to attorneys on both sides.

The judge reminded Assistant City Attorney James Erb that the city had to show "irrevocable harm" to its 

interests to meet the legal standard for issuance of an injunction. He asked Erb to spell out what harm 

would result to the city if the initiative stayed on the ballot.

Erb replied that the city would have to pay the county the costs associated with adding the measure to the 

ballot, but he did not know how much that would be.

Snyder then noted that the City Council is discussing placing the coal issue on the ballot and incurring 

those costs anyhow, although the measure that the council is considering would be a non-binding 

advisory measure.

Erb replied that the harm to the city would go beyond dollars.

"More important than the cost is the damage to the initiative process in allowing an invalid measure to go 

forward," Erb said.

If the council decides to put an advisory measure on the ballot, Erb said, the measure will be worded to 

make it clear to voters that it is advisory only and without legal impact, Erb said. But the No Coal! initiative 

is labeled as a new city ordinance that will prevent coal trains from moving through the city.

Page 1 of 4No Coal! initiative blocked from Bellingham ballot | Local Elections | The Bellingham He...

7/22/2014http://www.bellinghamherald.com/2012/08/03/2631100/no-coal-initiative-blocked-from.ht...

ATTACHMENT 3

56 of 106



Breean Beggs, representing the initiative backers, argued that in many Washington state cases, courts 

have preferred to review an initiative's legal validity only after voters have approved it.

Even when initiatives have been struck down after passage, they have served a useful purpose in making 

the will of the voters clear to lawmakers, Beggs said. He cited the 1999 initiative that rolled back car tab 

fees and made Tim Eyman famous. That measure was ruled unconstitutional, but legislators then scurried 

to roll back the fees with a new state law.

But Snyder said state courts also have struck down ballot measures in advance, when it could be shown 

that they were clearly beyond the scope of the initiative power.

"Does the city of Bellingham have the right to tell its citizens, 'You don't need to have a license plate on 

your car?'" Snyder asked Beggs.

Beggs replied that if the city or its voters tried to enact such a measure, the courts could quickly overturn 

it.

"What would be beyond the scope of the initiative power?" Snyder then asked. "Based on what you're 

telling me, it sounds like nothing would be."

Beggs contended that citizens have the right to vote on a measure that met the legal requirements for a 

place on the ballot.

"The people have the right under the Washington constitution to vote, and under the City Charter to vote," 

Beggs said. "All the people are asking for is the power to vote. ... Their government has kind of turned 

against them on it."

Snyder was not convinced.

"Today's decision is not about coal," he said. "It isn't about coal trains. It isn't about corporate power. It's 

about a point of law. ... It's not an easy one to grasp. ... This isn't a simple decision nor is it a one-way 

decision."

Snyder contended he was well within established state precedents in blocking an initiative that attempted 

to give the city legal powers it cannot exercise under state and federal law.

"The city has no right to act illegally," Snyder said. "The city has the legal right to come to court and say, 

'Don't make us do something that is against the law.'"

Snyder also ruled against Beggs' motion to collect damages and legal fees from the city, on grounds that 

the city's lawsuit violated the Washington Act Limiting Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation, 

known as the SLAPP law.

Beggs argued that in filing a lawsuit to block the initiative and naming initiative backers as defendants, the 

city was attempting to discourage their right to express their political views.

Snyder said the city lawsuit would have no such effect.

"It (the lawsuit) is not intended to silence the defendants," Snyder said. "They will continue to be as vocal 

as they wish to be."

The No Coal! group, with Stoney Bird and Rick Dubrow taking some degree of leadership, was launched 

in response to widespread concern about the increase in coal train traffic that could result if SSA Marine 

succeeds in getting regulatory approval for the Gateway Pacific Terminal project, which would export coal 

and perhaps other cargoes. Coal trains traveling from Powder River Basin mines east of the Rocky 

Mountains would travel through Bellingham en route to Cherry Point.

Page 2 of 4No Coal! initiative blocked from Bellingham ballot | Local Elections | The Bellingham He...

7/22/2014http://www.bellinghamherald.com/2012/08/03/2631100/no-coal-initiative-blocked-from.ht...

57 of 106



After backers of the initiative submitted about 10,000 signatures to the city on June 18, the Whatcom 

County Auditor verified that at least 4,990 of those signatures were valid, meeting the legal requirement 

for a place on the ballot. At that point, the city stepped in with the lawsuit, authorized by unanimous vote 

of the City Council. City attorneys advised council members that the passage of an initiative that 

contradicts state and federal laws would result in a potentially costly legal controversy for the city.

On Monday, Aug. 6, the council will consider a proposal to allow citizens to express their opinion on the 

coal shipments in a non-binding advisory vote.

TAKE OUR POLL

Do you support or oppose City of Bellingham Initiative No. 2012-2 concerns the people’s right of self-

government. This measure would establish the sovereignty of Bellingham residents, the rights of natural 

communities, and rights to a sustainable energy future and a healthy climate; prohibit corporations from 

transporting coal in the City; deny legal personhood and constitutional rights to corporate violators; deny 

the use of federal and state preemptive law to corporate violators; deny the validity of contrary permits; 

authorize private party civil enforcement actions; and repeal all inconsistent provisions of existing City 

ordinances.

City resident, support

Don't live in Bellingham, support

City resident, oppose

Don't live in Bellingham, oppose

Submit

Reach JOHN STARK at 715-2274 or john.stark@bellinghamherald.com . Read the Politics Blog at 

blogs.bellinghamherald.com/politics.

FacebookTwitterGoogle PlusRedditE-mailPrint

Join The Conversation

Bellingham Herald is pleased to provide this opportunity to share information, experiences and 

observations about what's in the news. Some of the comments may be reprinted elsewhere in the site or 

in the newspaper. We encourage lively, open debate on the issues of the day, and ask that you refrain 

from profanity, hate speech, personal comments and remarks that are off point. Thank you for taking the 

time to offer your thoughts. 

Commenting FAQs | Terms of Service

Page 3 of 4No Coal! initiative blocked from Bellingham ballot | Local Elections | The Bellingham He...

7/22/2014http://www.bellinghamherald.com/2012/08/03/2631100/no-coal-initiative-blocked-from.ht...

58 of 106



Email Newsletters > 

Manage newsletter subscriptions

Tablets > 

Apps and services for tablet devices

Mobile > 

Apps and services for your mobile phone

Social Media > 

Get updates via Facebook and Twitter

e-Edition > 

Your daily paper delivered to your computer

Home Delivery > 

Manage your home delivery account

Digital Subscriptions > 

Manage your online subscriptions

© 2014 www.bellinghamherald.com and wire service sources. All Rights Reserved. http://www.bellinghamherald.com

Page 4 of 4No Coal! initiative blocked from Bellingham ballot | Local Elections | The Bellingham He...

7/22/2014http://www.bellinghamherald.com/2012/08/03/2631100/no-coal-initiative-blocked-from.ht...

59 of 106



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
   
 
 
 
                                      
   
 

 

COUNCIL RESOLUTION NO.  5065 

 

 

A RESOLUTION TO OPPOSE THE TRANSPORT 

OF COAL FOR EXPORT THROUGH EUGENE. 

 

 

 

PASSED: 5:3 

 

 

REJECTED:  

 

 

OPPOSED: Clark, Farr, Poling 

 

 

ABSENT:  

 

 

CONSIDERED:  October 24, 2012  

 

ATTACHMENT 4

60 of 106



RESOLUTION NO. 5065 

A RESOLUTION TO OPPOSE THE TRANSPORT OF COAL FOR 
EXPORT THROUGH EUGENE. 

The City Council of the City of Eugene finds that: 

A. In October 2011, the Oregon International Port of Coos Bay (the "Port") signed an 
exclusive negotiating agreement with an anonymous company interested in shipping coal from 
the Port. The proposal, called Project Mainstay, would build a new terminal and ship 6-10 
million tons of coal per year. 

B. This coal would originate in Wyoming and Montana and would be shipped to Asia. 
The Port of Coos Bay indicated that as many as 10 trains with 120 to 135 cars that are 1.5 miles 
long could pass through Eugene per week. At 10 to 15 mile per hour these trains could block 
intersections in Eugene for 5 minutes. This would increase traffic and the risk of delaying 
emergency vehicles at rail crossings. 

C. According to findings from the Environmental Protection Agency and research in 
other communities; there are likely to be significant negative impacts to Eugene's public health, 
economy, and air and water quality. 

D. These mile and half long trains which typically carrying 100 tons of coal; can lose up 
to 3% of their load in transit in coal dust. The train cars are not likely to be covered due to danger 
of fires, and nor are they likely to be sealed with a surfactant to prevent the coal dust loss en 
route because of the additional cost of applying the surfactant. 

E. This coal dust will have a negative impact on local businesses, farms, homes and 
crops. Property values along coal transport routes have also been shown to decline. As well, 
local food production is likely to sustain adverse impacts which are counter to our community's 
desire to increase local healthy food production. 

F. Coal dust contains toxic heavy metals, including mercury, arsenic, and lead; all 
known to have serious adverse health impacts on people of all ages, particularly children. These 
heavy metals, as well as emissions from the diesel-powered engines, are linked to increases in 
cancer, bronchitis, emphysema, black lung disease and birth defects. The train tracks through 
Eugene go directly through neighborhoods with populations that already face adverse health 
impacts. 

G. Mercury and other toxic air pollutants produced from burning the coal in Asian 
nations have been shown to adversely impact the Northwest's air, water, fish, and wildlife. 

H. Exporting to, and burning coal in, Asia for electricity production will increase 
greenhouse gases (GHG) and hasten the adverse effects of global warming. Exporting coal to 

Resolution - Page 1 of 3 61 of 106



Asia will extend the period of time that Asian nations are reliant on coal, resulting in greater 
worldwide GHG emissions and other air pollution. It is difficult to see how exporting coal fits 
into the larger strategy of moving to a lower carbon future. 

I. The City of Eugene is a leader in the fight for clean air, and against climate change, by 
signing on to the US Mayors Climate Protection Agreement, creating our award-winning 
Community Climate and Energy Action Plan (CEAP), and by establishing Council goals to 
become carbon neutral in City-owned facilities and operations by 2020, and to reduce 
community-wide fossil fuel use by 50% by 2030. 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF EUGENE, a 
Municipal Corporation of the State of Oregon, as follows: 

Section 1. While we strongly support the use of rail on the Coos Bay Rail Link for 
freight, and the resulting jobs at the Port of Coos Bay; we find that coal trains through our City 
will have adverse social, economic, and environmental consequences for Eugene without much, 
if any, economic benefit to our community. Allowing coal trains to pass through our City is not 
compatible with the City's efforts to improve air quality, enhance public health, and promote 
local food production. 

Section 2. Exporting coal to Asia for electricity production is inconsistent with Eugene's 
efforts to reduce GHG emissions that cause climate change, move toward a lower carbon future, 
and to create clean energy jobs. 

Section 3. The City of Eugene shall explore whether there are local, state or federal laws 
protecting public health, safety, and air and water quality that can be used to prevent the 
transport of coal through the City, and if so, take reasonable steps to prevent that transport. 

Section 4. We fully support Governor Kitzhaber's request that a federal agency prepare 
a programmatic and comprehensive environmental impact statement (EIS) under the National 
Environmental Policy Act to look at the unprecedented number of coal export proposals pending 
in the Pacific Northwest, as well as the potential effects in this country of the use of coal in Asia. 
Now is the time for a programmatic EIS, before substantial and irreversible commitments of 
resources are made. 

Section 5. The City of Eugene joins the call for review of a comprehensive, independent, 
health impact assessment before any permits are approved for any proposed coal export project. 

Section 6. This resolution shall be sent to Governor Kitzhaber, Senators Wyden and 
Merkley, Congressman DeFazio, Secretary of the Interior Salazar, Secretary of the Army 
McHugh, General Temple of the US Army Corp of Engineers, Director Abbey of the Bureau of 
Land Management, our local state legislative delegation; and the City shall lobby on its behalf 
where appropriate. 

Resolution - Page 2 of 3 62 of 106



Section 7. This Resolution is effective immediately upon its passage by the City 
Council. 

The foregoing Resolution adopted on the 24th day of October, 2012. 

City Recorder 

Resolution - Page 3 of 3 63 of 106



Agenda Item 3  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 12, 2014  
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDERATION OF A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH COVINGTON 

MIXED-USE COMMERCIAL SITE DEVELOPMENT, CITY FILE NO. LU14-
0006/0010, PROPOSED IN THE DOWNTOWN TOWN CENTER (TC) ZONE 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  

1. Development Site Plan 
2. Resolution Adopting Final Development Agreement (Affinity at Covington and Polaris at 

Covington) 
 
PREPARED BY:  Salina Lyons, Principal Planner 
 
EXPLANATION: 
At the city council’s July 22, 2014 regular meeting, staff provided an overview of a development 
in the Town Center (TC) zone known as Covington Mixed-Use.  The project will be located on 
7.03 acres to the north of Covington Elementary school and consists of three multiple-story 
structures identified as Buildings A, B, and C. Buildings A and B are six-story mixed-use 
buildings with 200 units of affordable family apartments, ground level commercial space and 
parking. These buildings are referred to as Polaris at Covington.  Building C is a six-story 
building with 156 dwelling units and amenity space.  This building is referred to as Affinity at 
Covington and will provide senior living for ages 55 and over.  Building D is a pool house for 
the benefit of Building C.  
 
A public hearing was also held at the July 22, 2014 regular meeting to hear public testimony 
regarding the council’s consideration of a development agreement addressing the developer’s 
request to reduce the required 60% ground floor commercial space abutting streets that is 
applicable to Buildings A and B, and the request to allow compulsory, vocational and higher 
education schools to be permitted out-right on the first floors of Buildings A and B, if feasible.  
The council heard testimony from Sam Pace, a local real estate broker, and Scott Morris, the 
project proponent.  Both testified in support of the development agreement.  The council closed 
oral testimony for the public hearing at the July 22, 2014 meeting, but left the hearing open for 
the public to submit written testimony until 5:00 p.m. on August 12, 2014.  
 
Deviation Overview 
1. Reduction in Linear Commercial Space 

The developer is proposing to provide 53% of the frontage along 171st Ave SE (“Main 
Street”) and 44% of the frontage along SE 276th St for commercial space.  The commercial 
space along SE 276th St will consist of business offices and amenity spaces associated with 
the Polaris at Covington development.  Although the bulk of the proposed ground level 
commercial space will be for private use by the residents of the development, from a design 
perspective, it will provide a pedestrian level presence along the street. 

64 of 106



 
The developer has designated 3,987 sq. ft. of future commercial space along 171st Ave S.E. 
that will not be built out with the initial phases of the project, but will instead be completed 
with appropriate tenant improvements when tenants are identified.  Provisions for the 
phasing of tenant improvements and leasing requirements are outlined in the development 
agreement, Section 4.2, which states the developer is required to advertise and lease the 
space for the life of the building.  
 
Senior housing facilities are exempt from the mixed-use requirement; therefore, no ground 
floor commercial space is proposed for Building C. 
 

2. Request for compulsory, vocational and higher education schools to be permitted on the first 
floor. 
The developer is also requesting that the development agreement include provisions to permit 
out-right that compulsory, vocational and higher education schools to be permitted on the 
ground floor of the facility.  Given the city’s timeline for future development of the TC on 
the Covington Elementary School site, there may be an opportunity for Covington Mixed-
Use to provide classroom space on an interim basis, if feasible. Staff supports this request. 
 
Public Benefit Overview 

1. Public Space 
To meet the public benefit requirements associated with the use of a development agreement, 
the developer is proposing to dedicate 4,341 sq. ft. of public plaza space to the city. The 
public plazas will be located at the corners of 171st Ave. S.E. and mid-block on S.E. 276th St.  
The location and orientation of the public plaza space is intended to be one piece of the 
overall concept design for the TC.  The developer will be responsible for the daily 
maintenance of the public spaces, and the city will only be responsible to reimburse the 
developer for discrete maintenance costs as identified and requested by the developer (i.e. 
replacement of benches).  
 

2. Street Infrastructure  
A series of infrastructure improvements are required to accommodate access to the site and to 
meet the street network identified in the Comprehensive Plan.  These street improvements 
include the half street extension of S.E. 276th St and half-street improvements of 171st Ave 
S.E. (“Main Street”) along the west boundary.  The developer will be contributing 
approximately $559,716 to construct a portion of the city’s TC street network, in addition to 
payment of transportation impact fees.  

 
Conclusions 
Overall, the proposed project meets the requirements for utilizing the city’s development 
agreement process. The dedication of public plazas and the construction of significant amounts 
of public infrastructure as identified in the city’s six-year Capital Program results in a 
proportionate public benefit reduction in required ground floor commercial space and the 
potential ability to rent the commercial space as compulsory, vocational and/or higher education 
uses.  
 

65 of 106



The project will contribute to the city’s transportation network and our strong desire for 
affordable housing units, which are part of a mixed-use commercial and market-rate residential 
project. The availability of new housing in the TC also supports development of retail and other 
commercial spaces long term.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Direct staff to provide additional information before council consideration and adoption of the 
development agreement.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
City council action on this proposed development agreement is not expected to have a fiscal 
impact in and of itself. However, eventual development of the commercial space would involve 
the payment of permit fees, increased assessed valuation, and additional sales tax revenues as the 
ground floor commercial space is leased.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:        Ordinance        X   Resolution            Motion              Other 
 

Councilmember ______________ moves and Councilmember _____________ 
seconds to pass the proposed Resolution authorizing the interim city manager to 
execute a development agreement with Gemstar Properties, LLC for the Polaris and 
Affinity at Covington developments, known as the Covington Mixed-Use 
development, City File No. LU14-0006/0010, in substantial form as the agreement 
attached hereto. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Interim City Manager; Interim Deputy Finance Director; Public Works 
Director; City Attorney. 

66 of 106



130'-0" 102'-51
2" 254'-71

2"

22
5'

-7
"

42
9'

-7
"

40'-101
2"

41
'-0

"

33
'-0

"

20'-6"

5'-0"

276 TH

17
1 

S
T

FUTURE 274 TH

NEW PROPERTY LINE

BUILDING
"B"

POLARIS

83 STALLS @ GRADE
112 STALLS @

BASEMENT
195 TOTAL STALLS

BUILDING
"C"

AFFINITYBUILDING
"D"

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

RAMP DOWN

POOL BUILDING
RECEREATION

7

7

9

7

6

7 7

11

7

7

9

9

8 7

56

7

7
10

9

9

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

9

FIRE
ACCESS

GATE

OFFICE
AMENITY

(2,713 S.F.)

17
2 

S
T

TELEPHONE
EASEMENT

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

R.O.W.
DEDICATION

NEW PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 274TH

(E) N88°31'26"W - 530.10

N88°31'26"W - 497.10

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
37

8.
73

N88°40'46"W - 30.00

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

21
2.

58

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
17

9.
58

(E) N89°55'44"W - 500.16

N89°55'44"W - 467.16

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

58
8.

21

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
51

7.
21

FENCE

5

7

8
2

3

3

83

TRASH
STAGING

AREA

119 UNITS
53 STALLS

BUILDING
"A"

POLARIS

OFFICE
AMENITY

(6,093 S.F.)

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

DOG
AREA

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

ET GEN

ET
G

EN

PLAY
AREA

9'-0"

26'-0"

10'-0"

33'-0"

N
E

W
 P

R
O

P
E

R
TY

 L
IN

E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

N
E

W
 C

.L
. 1

71
 S

T

13
'-0

"

FIRE CONTROL
ACCESS ROOM

FIRE CONTROL
ACCESS ROOM

FIRE CONTROL
ACCESS ROOM

4380 SF4380 SF

3849 SF3849 SF

18'-0" 26'-0" 18'-0"
4'-0"

18'-0" 26'-0" 18'-0"

1'
-6

"

5'
-6

"
1'

-6
"

18
'-0

"
26

'-0
"

18
'-0

" 4'
-0

"18
'-0

"
26

'-0
"

18
'-0

"

18'-0"26'-0"18'-0"

TY
P

. @
 IS

LA
N

D

46
'-1

0"

8'-0"22'-0"8'-0"

1961 SF1961 SF1557 SF1557 SF

675 SF675 SF

1505 SF1505 SF
895 SF895 SF

1266 SF1266 SF

SENIOR
OPEN

SPACE
13807 SF13807 SF

PLAY
AREA

929 SF929 SF

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

PUBLIC
PLAZA
SPACE

SIDEWALK

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"=50'

PROJ. #
DRAWN:
CHECKED:
DATE:

REVISIONS
# DESCRIPTION DATE

04.15.14
CRO

13.76

P
R

O
JE

C
T:

C
O

V
IN

G
TO

N
 M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y
17

2N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 S
E

. &
 F

U
TU

R
E

 2
74

TH
 S

T.
C

O
V

IN
G

TO
N

, W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

A1.1
COMMERCIAL SITE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

CRO

171 ST
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 50% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 517.21 L.F. X 80% = 414 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 414 L.F. X 50% = 207 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 429 L.F. (83% SEE DRAWING)

(41 L.F. PLAZA - 8% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 222.5 L.F. (52% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 63%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

276 TH
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 30% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 497 L.F. X 80% = 397.6 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 397.6 L.F. X 30% = 119.28 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 130 L.F. + 254.6 L.F. = 384.6 L.F. (77% SEE DRAWING)

(102.4 L.F. PLAZA - 21% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 130 L.F. + 41 L.F. = 171 L.F. (43% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 68%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

ZONING TC (TOWN CENTER)

AREA 252,662 S.F. (5.80 ACRES) AFTER R.O.W.

DENSITY
ALLOWED 32 D.U. / ACRE MINIMUM

UNLIMITED MAXIMUM

BUILDING HT 75'-0"

SETBACKS NONE

FAR

ALLOWED 1.5 - UP TO 4 WITH BONUS
(254,647 S.F. * 1.5 = 381,971 S.F. ALLOWED)

BONUS 1.0 - STRUCTURED PARKING BELOW GRADE
.75 - STRUCTURED PARKING AT GRADE

1.5 + (BONUS 1.75) = 2.25 FAR
(254,647 S.F. * 2.25 = 859,435 S.F. ALLOWED)

PROPOSED504,766 S.F.

PARKING
REQUIRED 1.0 PER D.W. - STUDIO / 1 BEDROOM

1.5 PER D.W. - TWO BEDROOM
2.0 PER D.W. - THREE BEDROOM
+1 STALL PER 10 D.U.

BUILDING "A"
25 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 25 STALLS
64 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 96 STALLS
30 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 60 STALLS
119 @ 1 PER 10 = 12 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "A" 193 STALLS

BUILDING "B"
20 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 20 STALLS
36 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 54 STALLS
25 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 50 STALLS
81 @ 1 PER 10 = 9 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "B" 133 STALLS

BUILDING "C"
10 - STUDIO * 1.0 = 10 STALLS
54 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 54 STALLS
92 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 138 STALLS
156 @ 1 PER 10 = 16 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "C" 218 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED 544 STALLS

PROVIDED

SURFACE 209 STALLS
GARAGE 307 STALLS

TOTAL PROVIDED 516 STALLS

OPEN PUBLIC SPACE
REQUIRED 1.5% OF GROSS BUILDING AREA

POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS
(288,161 S.F. * 1.5% = 4,322 S.F.)

AFFINITY - SENIOR APARTMENTS
(211,892 S.F. * 1.5% = 3,178 S.F.)

PROVIDED
POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS

4,447 S.F. (LABELED FAMILY OPEN SPACE ON PLAN)
AFFINITY - SENIOR APARTMENTS

13,807 S.F. (LABELED SENIOR OPEN SPACE ON PLAN)

PLAY SPACE:
REQUIRED  45 S.F. PER UNIT POLARIS ONLY

POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS
(200 UNITS * 45 S.F. = 9,000 S.F.)

PROVIDED
POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS

8,229 S.F. OUTDOOR (LABELED PLAY AREA ON PLAN)
4,162 S.F. INTERIOR AREAS. INTERNET CAFE, FITNESS 
CENTER, MOVIE THEATRE, GAME ROOM, MULTI-PURPOSE
ROOM.

PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE:
4,341 S.F. OF PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE HAS BEEN PROVED (LABELED
PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE ON PLAN). THIS AREA IS " IN ADDITION TO"

REQUIRED OPEN SPACE AND PLAY SPACE.

BUILDING "A"
PARKING 20,756 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 10,080 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 140,799 S.F.
(29,382 S.F. x 4 LEVELS + 23,271 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL A:  171,635 S.F.*

BUILDING "B"
PARKING 17,865 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 2,713 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 95,948 S.F.
(20,020 S.F. x4 LEVELS + 15,868 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL B: 116,526 S.F.*

BUILDING "C"
P-O PARKING 39,634 S.F.
(BELOW GRADE)
P-1 PARKING 32,740 S.F.
P-1 AMENITY 6,847 S.F
R-1 UNITS 29,772 S.F.
R-1 AMENITY 5,369 S.F.
R-2 TO R-5 137,164 S.F.
(34,291 S.F. x4 LEVELS)

TOTAL C: 211,892 S.F.* (ABOVE GRADE)
251,526 S.F. (TOTAL BUILDING)

BUILDING "D"
BUILDING 4,713 S.F.*

TOTAL AREA * 504,766 S.F. (ABOVE GRADE)
544,400 S.F (TOTAL W/ B.G. PARKING)

FRONTAGE TABULATIONBUILDING TABULATIONZONING INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

SITE
LOCATION

SE 
W

AX 
RO

AD

SE 275 TH

17
2 

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

E

16
8 

TH
 P

L 
SE

PRIVATE FIRE LINE
HYDRANT LOCATIONS
FIRE SPRINKLERS
FIRE ALARM
EMERGENCY / STANDBY GENERATOR

WORK UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

CSD REVISIONS 06.16.2014

ATTACHMENT 1

67 of 106



130'-0" 102'-51
2" 254'-71

2"

22
5'

-7
"

42
9'

-7
"

40'-101
2"

41
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

2'
-0

"
22

'-0
"

46'-0"

2'-0" 22'-0" 8'-0"

33
'-0

"

20'-6"

5'-0"

5'
-0

"9'
-0

"

276 TH

17
1 

S
T

FUTURE 274 TH

NEW PROPERTY LINE

BUILDING
"B"

84 STALLS @ GRADE
111 STALLS @

BASEMENT
195 TOTAL STALLS

BUILDING
"C"BUILDING

"D"

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

(5,704 S.F.)

RAMP DOWN

POOL BUILDING
RECEREATION

7

7

9

7

6

7 7

11

7

7

9

9

8 7

56

7

7
10

9

9

PLAZA
(1,235 S.F.)

PLAZA
(521 S.F.)

PLAZA
(1,261 S.F.)

9

FIRE
ACCESS

GATE

OFFICE
AMENITY

(2,713 S.F.)

17
2 

S
T

TELEPHONE
EASEMENT

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 276TH

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

R.O.W.
DEDICATION

R
.O

.W
.

D
E

D
IC

A
TI

O
N

NEW PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 274TH

(E) N88°31'26"W - 530.10

N88°31'26"W - 497.10

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
37

8.
73

N88°40'46"W - 30.00

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

21
2.

58

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
17

9.
58

(E) N89°55'44"W - 500.16

N89°55'44"W - 467.16

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

58
8.

21

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
51

7.
21

FENCE

PLAZA
(1,156 S.F.)

5

7

8
2

3

5

7
3

TRASH
STAGING

AREA

119 UNITS
53 STALLS

BUILDING
"A"

OFFICE
AMENITY

(6,093 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,601 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,188 S.F.)

DOG
AREA

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

ET GEN

ET
G

EN

PLAY
AREA

9'-0"

26'-0"

10'-0"

33'-0"

N
E

W
 P

R
O

P
E

R
TY

 L
IN

E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

N
E

W
 C

.L
. 1

71
 S

T

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"=50'

PROJ. #
DRAWN:
CHECKED:
DATE:

REVISIONS
# DESCRIPTION DATE

04.15.14
CRO

13.76

P
R

O
JE

C
T:

C
O

V
IN

G
TO

N
 M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y
17

2N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 S
E

. &
 F

U
TU

R
E

 2
74

TH
 S

T.
C

O
V

IN
G

TO
N

, W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

A1.1
COMMERCIAL SITE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

CRO

171 ST
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 50% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 517.21 L.F. X 80% = 414 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 414 L.F. X 50% = 207 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 429 L.F. (83% SEE DRAWING)

(41 L.F. PLAZA - 8% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 222.5 L.F. (52% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 63%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

276 TH
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 30% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 497 L.F. X 80% = 397.6 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 397.6 L.F. X 30% = 119.28 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 130 L.F. + 254.6 L.F. = 384.6 L.F. (77% SEE DRAWING)

(102.4 L.F. PLAZA - 21% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 130 L.F. + 41 L.F. = 171 L.F. (43% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 68%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

ZONING TC (TOWN CENTER)

AREA 252,662 S.F. (5.80 ACRES) AFTER R.O.W.

DENSITY
ALLOWED 32 D.U. / ACRE MINIMUM

UNLIMITED MAXIMUM

BUILDING HT 75'-0"

SETBACKS NONE

FAR

ALLOWED 1.5 - UP TO 4 WITH BONUS
(254,647 S.F. * 1.5 = 381,971 S.F. ALLOWED)

BONUS 1.0 - STRUCTURED PARKING BELOW GRADE
.75 - STRUCTURED PARKING AT GRADE

1.5 + (BONUS 1.75) = 2.25 FAR
(254,647 S.F. * 2.25 = 859,435 S.F. ALLOWED)

PROPOSED504,766 S.F.

PARKING
REQUIRED 1.0 PER D.W. - STUDIO / 1 BEDROOM

1.5 PER D.W. - TWO BEDROOM
2.0 PER D.W. - THREE BEDROOM
+1 STALL PER 10 D.U.

BUILDING "A"
25 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 25 STALLS
64 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 96 STALLS
30 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 60 STALLS
119 @ 1 PER 10 = 12 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "A" 193 STALLS

BUILDING "B"
20 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 20 STALLS
36 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 54 STALLS
25 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 50 STALLS
81 @ 1 PER 10 = 9 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "B" 133 STALLS

BUILDING "C"
10 - STUDIO * 1.0 = 10 STALLS
54 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 54 STALLS
92 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 138 STALLS
156 @ 1 PER 10 = 16 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "C" 218 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED 544 STALLS

PROVIDED

SURFACE 210 STALLS
GARAGE 307 STALLS

TOTAL PROVIDED 517 STALLS

OPEN PUBLIC SPACE
REQUIRED 1.5% OF GROSS BUILDING AREA

(504,766 S.F * 1.5% = 7,571 S.F)

PROVIDED 8,493 S.F. REQUIRED SPACE (LABEL OPEN ON PLAN)
4,173 S.F. PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE (LABEL PLAZA ON PLAN)

BUILDING "A"
PARKING 20,756 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 10,080 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 140,799 S.F.
(29,382 S.F. x 4 LEVELS + 23,271 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL A:  171,635 S.F.*

BUILDING "B"
PARKING 17,865 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 2,713 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 95,948 S.F.
(20,020 S.F. x4 LEVELS + 15,868 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL B: 116,526 S.F.*

BUILDING "C"
P-O PARKING 39,634 S.F.
(BELOW GRADE)
P-1 PARKING 32,740 S.F.
P-1 AMENITY 6,847 S.F
R-1 UNITS 29,772 S.F.
R-1 AMENITY 5,369 S.F.
R-2 TO R-5 137,164 S.F.
(34,291 S.F. x4 LEVELS)

TOTAL C: 211,892 S.F.* (ABOVE GRADE)
251,526 S.F. (TOTAL BUILDING)

BUILDING "D"
BUILDING 4,713 S.F.*

TOTAL AREA * 504,766 S.F. (ABOVE GRADE)
544,400 S.F (TOTAL W/ B.G. PARKING)

FRONTAGE TABULATIONBUILDING TABULATIONZONING INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

SITE
LOCATION

SE 
W

AX 
RO

AD

SE 275 TH

17
2 

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

E

16
8 

TH
 P

L 
SE

CSD REVISIONS                 06.16.2014

PERSPECTIVES

A5.04

SW AERIAL - CORNER OF 276TH & 171ST 

SE PERSPECTIVE

SW PERSPECTIVE - CORNER OF 276TH & 171ST

SOUTH AERIAL - PLAZA ON 276TH

68 of 106



130'-0" 102'-51
2" 254'-71

2"

22
5'

-7
"

42
9'

-7
"

40'-101
2"

41
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

2'
-0

"
22

'-0
"

46'-0"

2'-0" 22'-0" 8'-0"

33
'-0

"

20'-6"

5'-0"

5'
-0

"9'
-0

"

276 TH

17
1 

S
T

FUTURE 274 TH

NEW PROPERTY LINE

BUILDING
"B"

84 STALLS @ GRADE
111 STALLS @

BASEMENT
195 TOTAL STALLS

BUILDING
"C"BUILDING

"D"

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

(5,704 S.F.)

RAMP DOWN

POOL BUILDING
RECEREATION

7

7

9

7

6

7 7

11

7

7

9

9

8 7

56

7

7
10

9

9

PLAZA
(1,235 S.F.)

PLAZA
(521 S.F.)

PLAZA
(1,261 S.F.)

9

FIRE
ACCESS

GATE

OFFICE
AMENITY

(2,713 S.F.)

17
2 

S
T

TELEPHONE
EASEMENT

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 276TH

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

R.O.W.
DEDICATION

R
.O

.W
.

D
E

D
IC

A
TI

O
N

NEW PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 274TH

(E) N88°31'26"W - 530.10

N88°31'26"W - 497.10

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
37

8.
73

N88°40'46"W - 30.00

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

21
2.

58

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
17

9.
58

(E) N89°55'44"W - 500.16

N89°55'44"W - 467.16

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

58
8.

21

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
51

7.
21

FENCE

PLAZA
(1,156 S.F.)

5

7

8
2

3

5

7
3

TRASH
STAGING

AREA

119 UNITS
53 STALLS

BUILDING
"A"

OFFICE
AMENITY

(6,093 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,601 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,188 S.F.)

DOG
AREA

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

ET GEN

ET
G

EN

PLAY
AREA

9'-0"

26'-0"

10'-0"

33'-0"

N
E

W
 P

R
O

P
E

R
TY

 L
IN

E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

N
E

W
 C

.L
. 1

71
 S

T

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"=50'

PROJ. #
DRAWN:
CHECKED:
DATE:

REVISIONS
# DESCRIPTION DATE

04.15.14
CRO

13.76

P
R

O
JE

C
T:

C
O

V
IN

G
TO

N
 M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y
17

2N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 S
E

. &
 F

U
TU

R
E

 2
74

TH
 S

T.
C

O
V

IN
G

TO
N

, W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

A1.1
COMMERCIAL SITE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

CRO

171 ST
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 50% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 517.21 L.F. X 80% = 414 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 414 L.F. X 50% = 207 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 429 L.F. (83% SEE DRAWING)

(41 L.F. PLAZA - 8% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 222.5 L.F. (52% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 63%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

276 TH
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 30% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 497 L.F. X 80% = 397.6 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 397.6 L.F. X 30% = 119.28 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 130 L.F. + 254.6 L.F. = 384.6 L.F. (77% SEE DRAWING)

(102.4 L.F. PLAZA - 21% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 130 L.F. + 41 L.F. = 171 L.F. (43% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 68%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

ZONING TC (TOWN CENTER)

AREA 252,662 S.F. (5.80 ACRES) AFTER R.O.W.

DENSITY
ALLOWED 32 D.U. / ACRE MINIMUM

UNLIMITED MAXIMUM

BUILDING HT 75'-0"

SETBACKS NONE

FAR

ALLOWED 1.5 - UP TO 4 WITH BONUS
(254,647 S.F. * 1.5 = 381,971 S.F. ALLOWED)

BONUS 1.0 - STRUCTURED PARKING BELOW GRADE
.75 - STRUCTURED PARKING AT GRADE

1.5 + (BONUS 1.75) = 2.25 FAR
(254,647 S.F. * 2.25 = 859,435 S.F. ALLOWED)

PROPOSED504,766 S.F.

PARKING
REQUIRED 1.0 PER D.W. - STUDIO / 1 BEDROOM

1.5 PER D.W. - TWO BEDROOM
2.0 PER D.W. - THREE BEDROOM
+1 STALL PER 10 D.U.

BUILDING "A"
25 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 25 STALLS
64 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 96 STALLS
30 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 60 STALLS
119 @ 1 PER 10 = 12 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "A" 193 STALLS

BUILDING "B"
20 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 20 STALLS
36 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 54 STALLS
25 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 50 STALLS
81 @ 1 PER 10 = 9 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "B" 133 STALLS

BUILDING "C"
10 - STUDIO * 1.0 = 10 STALLS
54 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 54 STALLS
92 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 138 STALLS
156 @ 1 PER 10 = 16 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "C" 218 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED 544 STALLS

PROVIDED

SURFACE 210 STALLS
GARAGE 307 STALLS

TOTAL PROVIDED 517 STALLS

OPEN PUBLIC SPACE
REQUIRED 1.5% OF GROSS BUILDING AREA

(504,766 S.F * 1.5% = 7,571 S.F)

PROVIDED 8,493 S.F. REQUIRED SPACE (LABEL OPEN ON PLAN)
4,173 S.F. PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE (LABEL PLAZA ON PLAN)

BUILDING "A"
PARKING 20,756 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 10,080 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 140,799 S.F.
(29,382 S.F. x 4 LEVELS + 23,271 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL A:  171,635 S.F.*

BUILDING "B"
PARKING 17,865 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 2,713 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 95,948 S.F.
(20,020 S.F. x4 LEVELS + 15,868 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL B: 116,526 S.F.*

BUILDING "C"
P-O PARKING 39,634 S.F.
(BELOW GRADE)
P-1 PARKING 32,740 S.F.
P-1 AMENITY 6,847 S.F
R-1 UNITS 29,772 S.F.
R-1 AMENITY 5,369 S.F.
R-2 TO R-5 137,164 S.F.
(34,291 S.F. x4 LEVELS)

TOTAL C: 211,892 S.F.* (ABOVE GRADE)
251,526 S.F. (TOTAL BUILDING)

BUILDING "D"
BUILDING 4,713 S.F.*

TOTAL AREA * 504,766 S.F. (ABOVE GRADE)
544,400 S.F (TOTAL W/ B.G. PARKING)

FRONTAGE TABULATIONBUILDING TABULATIONZONING INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

SITE
LOCATION

SE 
W

AX 
RO

AD

SE 275 TH

17
2 

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

E

16
8 

TH
 P

L 
SE

CSD REVISIONS                 06.16.2014

PERSPECTIVES

A5.05

SW PERSPECTIVE - PLAZA ON 276TH / STOREFRONT LEVEL

NW PERSPECTIVE - BLANK WALL TREATMENT / GARAGE SCREENS - 171 ST SW PERSPECTIVE - STOREFRONTS - 171 ST

69 of 106



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 14-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
APPROVING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH GEMSTAR 
PROPERTIES, LLC FOR THE POLARIS AND AFFINITY 
AT COVINGTON DEVELOPMENTS, KNOWN AS THE 
COVINGTON MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT, CITY FILE 
NO. LU14-0006/0010. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Washington State legislature authorizes development agreements 
through RCW 36.70B.170 through 36.70B.210; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 06-13 as codified at Chapter 18.114 of the Covington 
Municipal Code (CMC), authorizes the use of development agreements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CMC 18.31.045 allows deviations to the development standards within the 
downtown zoning, town center (TC) through the development agreement process; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the city council reviewed this matter at a study session on February 11, 
2013; and  
 

WHEREAS, a development agreement application was formally submitted on April 24, 
2014 by Gemstar Properties, LLC; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city issued a Mitigated Determination of Non-Significance on June 20, 

2014 for the Covington Mixed Use development pursuant to the State Environmental Policy Act 
(SEPA); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the city council held a public hearing and took testimony July 22, 2014; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Covington city council has considered all testimony provided at the 
public hearing and recommendation of city staff has determined that the development agreement 
is incompliance with State law and city codes.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Covington, 
King County, Washington, as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  The city council does hereby authorize the interim city manager to execute a 
development agreement with Gemstar Properties, LLC for both the Affinity and Polaris at 
Covington developments, substantially in the form of the proposed agreement as set for in 
Exhibit A attached hereto.  
 

ATTACHMENT 2

70 of 106



 PASSED in open and regular session on this 12th day of August, 2014. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
                     MARGARET HARTO, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
__________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________________ 
Sara Springer, City Attorney 

71 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 1 of 12 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN  

THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND GEMSTAR PROPERTIES, LLC 
FOR THE  

AFFINITY AT COVINGTON & POLARIS AT COVINGTON DEVELOPMENT 
 
 THIS DEVELOPMENTAGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is effective the ____ day of August, 2014 
(“Effective Date”), by and between the City of Covington, a Washington municipal corporation (the “City”), 
and Gemstar Properties, LLC, a Washington limited liability company and/or its assigns (“Gemstar” or the 
“Developer”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Legislature has authorized the execution of a development 
agreement between a local government and a person having ownership or control of real property within 
its jurisdiction (RCW 36.70B.170(1)); and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement dated December 3, 2013, Gemstar has 

contracted with Covington Towne Center, LLC to purchase approximately 7.03 acres of vacant land in the 
City of Covington’s town center district (the “Subject Property” as defined below); and 

 
WHEREAS, Gemstar intends to acquire the Subject Property and develop a 200-unit affordable 

family apartment community and a 156-unit senior apartment community , as conceptually depicted on the 
site plan attached hereto as Exhibit “B”; and 

 
WHEREAS, Gemstar has submitted a commercial site development application, File No. LU14-

0006/0010; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Subject Property lies within the Covington downtown zone, town center district, the 

development and design standards for which are set forth in the Chapter 18.31 of the Covington Municipal 
Code (CMC);   

 
WHEREAS, the City has adopted a process, set forth in CMC 18.31.045, for allowing deviations to 

the development standards within the downtown zone, town center district, through a development 
agreement.  So long as a development agreement is consistent with the applicable policies and goals of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan, deviations from development regulations may be granted to provide flexibility 
to achieve public benefits, to respond to changing community needs, or to encourage deviations that 
provide the functional equivalent or adequately achieve the purposes of otherwise applicable City 
standards; and 
 

WHEREAS, in exchange for certain deviations to the applicable development standards for the 
Project, Gemstar has offered certain mitigations that exceed those required under the City’s standard 
development regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City deems that the mitigations offered by Gemstar provide a level of public benefit 

proportionate to the deviations to the development standards requested for the Project and that the 
deviations are supported by the goals and policies in the City’s Comprehensive Plan;  and 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 14-15 
            EXHIBIT A       

72 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 2 of 12 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 18.114.040, a public hearing for this Agreement was held on July 22, 
2014, and the City Council approved this Development Agreement by Ordinance No. ___-14 on August 12, 
2014;  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants and promises of the parties herein 
contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
1. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
1.1. Subject Property. The Subject Property of the proposed development herein is located at 172nd 

Avenue SE and Future 274th Street in the City’s Town Center District, bearing parcel #3622059187 
(the “Subject Property”), as described as a portion of Parcel A, City of Covington Lot Line 
Adjustment number LU10-0005 (Covington Town Center) King County Recording Number 
0100811900003. The property lies within NW ¼, Section 36, Township 22N, and Range 5E WM, 
King County Washington.  As used in this Agreement, the term “Subject Property” shall mean the 
parcel of land described hereto as well as any parcels subsequently created by a division therefrom 
as part of a Binding Site Plan proposed by the Developer. 

 
1.2. The Project. The mixed-use development to be sited on the Subject Property in accordance with 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement as well as all other applicable development regulations 
is commonly referred to as the “Affinity at Covington” and the “Polaris at 
Covington“ developments (collectively the “Project”), as more particularly described in Exhibit “B” 
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  

 
2. TERM 

 
This Agreement shall commence upon the effective date of the Adopting Ordinance approving this 
Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect for a period of twenty (20) years unless extended 
or terminated as provided herein. Following the expiration of the term or extension thereof, or if 
sooner terminated, this Agreement shall have no force and effect, subject, however, to post-
termination obligations of the Developer or Landowner, if any.  
 

3. VESTED RIGHTS OF DEVELOPER 
 
3.1. Except as may be provided otherwise in this Agreement, for the Term of this Agreement, 

development of the Project shall be vested to and governed by City development regulations in 
effect as of the Effective Date of this Agreement. Except as expressly stated otherwise herein, 
any amendments or additions made during the Term of this Agreement to City development 
regulations shall not apply to or affect the conditions of development of the Project.  
 

3.2. As used in this Agreement, “development regulations” shall be deemed to include regulations, 
policies and procedures, and guidelines addressing zoning, environmental review, building and 
site design, utilities, stormwater, impact fees, transportation concurrency, and other laws, 
ordinances, policies, and administrative regulations and guidelines of the City governing land 
development. 
 

3.3. Nothing herein relieves the Developer of any obligations it may have during the Term to comply 

73 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 3 of 12 

with state or federal laws or regulations of any kind.  The proposed Project shall not be vested 
against the application of development standards that are imposed by virtue of state or federal 
pre-emption of the City’s regulatory authority.  As provided by RCW 36.70B.170(4), the 
proposed Project shall not vest against new development regulations to the extent the new 
regulations are required by a serious threat to public health and safety. 

 
3.4. The International Building Code, International Fire Code, and other construction codes in effect 

in the State of Washington as of the date of the filing of a complete application for a building 
permit for the Subject Property shall apply to all new development and the redevelopment or 
modification of existing development on the Subject Property.  

 
3.5. Permit, plan review, and inspection fees are exempt from vesting under this Agreement.  

 
3.6. The vesting described herein shall apply for the Term of this Agreement.  For those 

development standards not specifically enumerated in this section, land use, development, or 
building permit approvals shall be governed by the City codes and standards in effect upon the 
date of complete application.    

 
3.7. During the Term of this Agreement, the Developer may at its option develop the Subject 

Property or portions thereof in accordance with new code provisions or generally applicable 
standards for that subject adopted after the date of execution of this Agreement, without the 
obligation to bring other portions of the Subject Property into conformance with newly-
adopted codes or regulations. 
 

4. GROUND FLOOR COMMERCIAL USE DEVIATION 
 
4.1. Background. CMC 18.31.080(4)(26) requires that that sixty percent (60%) or more of the 

ground floor of a mixed-use building abutting a street or other public space shall be occupied 
by retail, restaurant, or personal services uses (“Commercial Use”).  Pursuant to the 
development agreement deviation process under CMC 18.31.045(4), the required Commercial 
Use shall not be reduced to less than thirty percent (30 %) along each street front. 

 
The Commercial Use standard is related to the amount of linear feet of building frontage that is 
provided for each structure along each public street.  Based on this calculation, Building A- 
Polaris at Covington is designed to occupy 429 linear feet of building frontage along 171st Ave 
SE, thus requiring 257 linear feet of Commercial Use to meet the 60% standard.  The Polaris at 
Covington project provides 223 linear feet of Commercial Use along 171st Ave SE, which 
equates to 52% of street frontage (a shortage of 8%, or 29 linear feet).   
 
Building B- Polaris at Covington project is designed to occupy 254 linear feet, and a portion of 
Building A that wraps around the corner of 171st Ave SE and SE 276th St is designed to occupy 
130 linear feet of SE 276th St for a total frontage of 384 linear feet. To meet the 60% standard, 
230 linear feet of Commercial Use is required along SE 276th St.  Building B and a portion of 
Building A is designed to provide 171 linear feet of Commercial Use along SE 276th St., which 
equates to 44% of street frontage (a shortage of 16%, or 58 linear feet).   

 
The Polaris at Covington (Buildings A & B) will provide a total of 12,793square feet of 
Commercial Use space. A majority of the Commercial Use space along SE 276th St, 
approximately 8,806 sq. ft., will be occupied by offices and amenities associated with the 

74 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 4 of 12 

Polaris at Covington development.  Possible amenities will include media and game rooms, 
fitness center, and spaces to use for tutoring or working on site, as well as other ancillary uses.    
The commercial space along 171st Ave SE, approximately 3,987 sq. ft. will be available for rent 
for future Commercial Use.  
 
The requirement to provide ground floor Commercial Use space is only applicable to the Polaris 
at Covington (Buildings A & B). The senior housing, Affinity at Covington (Building C) is a single 
use structure and is not required to provide ground floor Commercial Use.  

 
4.2. Authorized Deviation. The City authorizes the Polaris at Covington project to deviate from the 

sixty-percent (60%) Ground Floor Commercial Use Standard for Multi-family Developments in 
the Town Center zone requirement of CMC 18.31.080(4)(26) pursuant to the following 
conditions: 
 
4.2.1. Fifty-two percent (52%) of the ground level building frontage abutting 171st Avenue SE 

shall be occupied by, or designated for future Commercial Use;  
 

4.2.2. Forty-four percent (44%) of the ground level building frontage abutting SE 276th Street 
shall be occupied by, or designated for future use as, Commercial Use; 
 

4.2.3. The Developer shall be responsible for consistently advertising the above identified 
Commercial Use frontage and actively securing tenants to occupy said Commercial Use 
space throughout the duration of the life the building; and 

 
4.2.4. The Developer may use the above identified Commercial Use space for ancillary uses to 

the Polaris at Covington project (such as additional parking) upon the following 
conditions:    
 
4.2.4.1. Ancillary uses in said Commercial Use space shall be designed and 

constructed to look like a commercial storefront from the street, as 
conditioned in the Director’s Decision for the Commercial Site 
Development Permit and as required in the City’s Downtown Design 
Guidelines and Standards, until such time tenants are secured and the 
space is converted; and 
 

4.2.4.2. Ancillary uses of said Commercial Use spaces shall only be permitted for a 
period of ten (10) years from the Effective Date of this Agreement, unless 
otherwise extended by the City.  
 

5. GROUND FLOOR SCHOOL USE DEVIATION 
 
5.1. Background. CMC 18.31.080(4)(13) requires that schools, including compulsory, vocational, and 

higher education, be permitted pursuant to a conditional use permit, on the upper floors of a 
mixed-use building that includes ground floor retail.  There are no specific conditions in the 
City’s development Agreement process associated with a deviation from this requirement.   

 
This is a staff proposed deviation based on the City’s long term vision to provide for educational 
opportunities in the Town Center.  Polaris at Covington is the first large development project in 
the Town Center that will be constructing ground floor Commercial Space with the possibility 

75 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 5 of 12 

for occupancy within the next year (2015).  The City, in agreement with the Developer, would 
like the option to occupy the required Commercial Use space, per Section 4 herein, with school 
uses until a better location is constructed for school use and/or the market grows to fulfill the 
Commercial Use space at the Polaris at Covington project. 
 

5.2. Authorized Deviation. The City authorizes the Polaris at Covington project to deviate from the 
requirement that schools shall be located on the upper floors of mixed use structures in the 
Town Center zone as required in CMC 18.31.080(4)(13) provided: 
 
5.2.1. The Developer and a school are able to agree upon a mutually satisfactory agreement 

for the use of the first floor Commercial Space; 
 

5.2.2. Any tenant improvements included as part of said agreement, or any other 
improvements to a first floor space to accommodate a school use, shall maintain and 
include facade requirements as required in the City’s Downtown Design Guidelines and 
Standards; and 
 

5.2.3. The City’s conditional use permit requirement for the location of schools pursuant to 
CMC 18.31.080(4)(13) is hereby waived for the purposes of locating school uses 
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.  
 

6. MITIGATION  
 
In consideration of the City’s authorized permitted use deviations as provided for in Section 4 herein, 
the Developer agrees to the following mitigation measures. 
 
6.1. Public Benefit Spaces. The Developer agrees to devote a combined 4,314 sq. ft. of public 

benefit space on the Subject Property to the City pursuant to the following.  
 
6.1.1. Public Benefit Spaces Locations. The locations of the below public benefit spaces are 

based on the City’s 2009 Downtown Plan and Zoning Study that identifies 171st Ave SE 
as a prominent “Main Street” and the vision for future development to the west, north, 
and south of the Polaris and Affinity developments.  Based on the City’s vision for a 
walkable downtown, it is necessary to provide public spaces at the intersections that 
will function as mini plazas that will be invite pedestrians, provide greenery along the 
street, and be used as spaces where people can gather.  These mini plazas will also 
function cohesively with the streetscape and other plazas that will be constructed as 
part of surrounding developments, particularly the plazas along SE 276th St.  These 
plazas will create a connection to the future city park/plaza identified on the property 
to the south of the Subject Property.    

 
6.1.1.1. Public Space No. 1 shall be located at the northwest corner of the Subject 

Property (adjacent to the future intersection of 171st Ave SE and SE 274th St) 
and shall be approximately 1,266 sq. ft.; 
 

6.1.1.2. Public Space No. 2 shall be located at the southwest corner of the Subject 
Property (adjacent to the intersection of 171st Ave SE and SE 276th St) and 
shall be approximately 895 sq. ft.; and 
 

76 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 6 of 12 

6.1.1.3. Public Spaces No. 3 & 4 shall be located mid-block along the frontage of SE 
276th St. between Buildings A and B, pursuant to the commercial site 
development plans, and shall be approximately 2,180 sq. ft (combined 
total). 

 
6.1.2. Construction of Public Benefit Spaces. The Developer agrees to plan, design, and 

construct the above public benefit spaces as part of the Commercial Site Development 
Permit approval and according to the following requirements: 
 
6.1.2.1. Design of the spaces shall include hardscaping, textured concrete surfaces, 

benches/seating areas, and a bike rack. Landscaped raised planters shall be 
used to differentiate the location of the public benefit space and required 
spaces associated with the Polaris at Covington development.  

 
6.1.2.2. The Developer shall be responsible for all initial capital costs to construct 

the public benefit spaces pursuant to final approved construction plans by 
the City.  

 
6.1.2.3. The Developer shall be required to post a separate financial guarantee for 

the construction of the public benefit spaces prior the issuance of any 
construction permits for the Subject Property.   

 
6.1.2.4. The Developer shall be responsible for completing construction of the 

public benefit spaces prior to final acceptance of Subject Property site 
improvements by the City.  The City reserves the right to withhold the 
issuance of permits for the Subject Property and/or the release of any 
financial guarantees for the Subject Property until said public benefit 
spaces are constructed, unless otherwise approved by the City. 

 
6.1.3. Maintenance of Public Benefit Spaces. Upon construction of the public benefit spaces, 

the Developer shall be responsible for the ongoing maintenance of the public benefit 
spaces.  The Developer shall bear the costs of the ordinary day-to-day maintenance of 
the public benefit spaces (such as cleaning), however, the City shall be responsible for 
the cost of any major or non-ordinary maintenance of the public benefit spaces that 
becomes necessary over time (such as sidewalk/concrete repairs, accessory/fixture 
replacements, vehicular damage, graffiti, etc.).  The Developer and City will enter into a 
separate maintenance agreement and/or easement agreement setting forth these 
responsibilities and the City’s reimbursement obligation for major and/or non-ordinary 
maintenance costs. 
 

6.1.4. Public Space Easement.  Upon completion of the construction of the public benefit 
spaces, the Developer shall execute an easement with the city benefiting the city for 
the public benefit spaces in perpetuity upon the terms pursuant to Section 6.1.  

 
6.2. Street and Utility Infrastructure. In addition to the devotion of the public benefit spaces in 

Section 5.1, the City shall recognize the level of street and utility infrastructure necessary for 
the Subject Property to develop as additional mitigation measure provided by the Developer.  
171st Ave SE and SE 276th St are identified in the City’s 6-year Transportation Improvement 
Projects 2015-2020 list as developer driven projects.  Although the Developer is responsible for 

77 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 7 of 12 

the cost and construction of the infrastructure necessary for their development, the installation 
of the improvements will provide a catalyst for adjacent developments because a majority of 
the required utilities (sewer, water, power, lights, etc.) will be more readily available for direct 
connections.  

 
7. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 
The parties shall use their best efforts to resolve disputes arising out of or related to this Agreement 
using good faith negotiations by engaging in the following dispute escalation process should any such 
disputes arise:    
 
7.1. Level One – The Developer’s project manager and a City staff member appropriate to the 

nature of the dispute shall meet to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute in a timely 
manner.  If they cannot resolve the dispute within fourteen (14) calendar days after referral of 
that dispute to Level One, either party may refer the dispute to Level Two.    
 

7.2. Level Two – The Developer’s principal and the City’s Community Development Director or 
authorized designee shall meet to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute in a timely 
manner.  If they cannot resolve the dispute within fourteen (14) business days after referral of 
that dispute to Level Two, either party may refer the dispute to Level Three.    

 
7.3. Level Three – The Developer’s principal (or designee) and the City Manager (or designee) shall 

meet to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute in a timely manner.  Counsel for the parties 
shall be permitted to attend Level Three meetings.   

 
7.4. Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, in the event the dispute is not resolved at 

Level Three within fourteen (14) calendar days after referral of that dispute to Level Three, 
either party may commence legal proceedings.   

 
7.5. At all times prior to resolution of the dispute, the parties shall continue to perform under this 

Agreement in the same manner and under the same terms as existed prior to the dispute.   
 

7.6. Nothing in this Section 7 shall preclude either party from seeking injunctive or equitable relief 
prior to the initiation or completion of this dispute resolution process.   

 
8. DEFAULT   

 
8.1. Subject to extensions of time by mutual consent in writing, failure or delay by either party to 

perform any term or provision of this Agreement shall constitute a default.  In the event of an 
alleged default or breach of any terms or conditions of this Agreement, the party alleging such 
default or breach shall give the other party not less than thirty (30) days notice in writing, 
specifying the nature of the alleged default and the manner in which said default may be cured.  
During this thirty (30) day period, the party charged shall not be considered in default for 
purposes of termination or institution of legal proceedings.     
 

8.2. After notice and expiration of the thirty (30) day period, if such default has not been cured or is 
not being diligently cured in the manner set forth in the notice, the other party to this 
Agreement may, at its option, institute legal proceedings pursuant to this Agreement.   

 

78 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 8 of 12 

9. TERMINATION 
 
9.1. This Agreement shall automatically terminate and be of no further force and effect upon any of 

the following occurrences: 
 
9.1.1. If the development contemplated in this Agreement and all of the permits and/or 

approvals issued by the City for such development are not substantially underway prior 
to expiration of such permits and/or approvals.  Nothing in this Agreement shall extend 
the expiration date of any permit or approval issued by the City for any development;     
 

9.1.2. If the Developer does not construct the Project as contemplated by the permits and 
approvals identified in this Agreement and submits applications for development of the 
Property that are inconsistent with such permits and approvals;  or 
 

9.1.3. Upon the expiration of the term identified in Section 2 herein or when the Subject 
Property has been fully developed, which ever first occurs, and all of the Developer’s 
obligations in connection therewith are satisfied as determined by the City.   
 

Upon the termination of this Agreement, the City shall record a notice of such termination in a 
form satisfactory to the City Attorney that the Agreement has been terminated.   
 

9.2. Effect of Termination.   
 
9.2.1. Termination of this Agreement shall not affect any of the Developer’s obligations to 

comply with the City Comprehensive Plan and the terms and conditions or any 
applicable zoning code(s) or subdivision map or other land use entitlements approved 
with respect to the Subject Property, any other conditions of any other development 
specified in the Agreement to continue after the termination of this Agreement or 
obligations to pay assessments, liens, fees, or taxes.    
 

9.2.2. Upon any termination of this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement 
shall no longer be vested with respect to the Subject Property (provided that vesting of 
ulterior terms and conditions may then be established for the Subject Property 
pursuant to then existing planning and zoning laws).       

 
10. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
10.1. Contingencies. This Agreement and the obligations hereunder shall be contingent upon 

Gemstar, or entities under common control with Gemstar, acquiring fee title to the Subject 
Property. 

 
10.2. No Third Party Beneficiaries. The City shall not be obligated or liable under the terms of this 

Agreement to any person or entity not a party hereto.  Further, the City shall not be bound by 
any contracts or conditions that the Developer may negotiate with third parties related to the 
Subject Property or Project, other than customary rights required by a lender. 
 

10.3. Entire Agreement. This Agreement embodies the whole agreement of the parties concerning 
its subject matter; there are no promises, terms, conditions, or obligations other than those 
contained herein that exist with respect to its subject matter; and this Agreement shall 

79 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 9 of 12 

supersede all provisions, communications, representations, or agreement, either verbal or 
written, between the parties with respect to its subject matter. 

 
10.4. No Joint Venture. Notwithstanding any language in this Agreement, the City shall not be 

deemed to be a member, partner, or joint venture partner of the Developer and the City shall 
not be responsible for any debt or liability of the Developer.  Gemstar shall not be responsible 
for any debt or liability of the City. 
 

10.5. Covenants Running with the Land. The conditions and covenants set forth in this Agreement 
shall run with the land and the benefits and burdens shall bind and inure to the benefit of the 
parties.  The Owner and every purchaser, assignee, or transferee of an interest in the Property, 
or any portion thereof, shall be obligated and bound by the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and shall be the beneficiary thereof and a party thereto, but only with respect to 
the Property, or such portion thereof, sold, assigned, or transferred to it.  Any such purchaser, 
assignee, or transferee shall observe and fully perform all of the duties and obligations of the 
Owner contained in this Agreement, as such duties and obligations pertain to the portion of the 
Property sold, assigned, or transferred to it.     

 
10.6. Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended by mutual written consent of the parties. 

Amendments to this Agreement that materially modify the intent and policy of the Agreement 
must be approved by the City Council.  Other amendments may be approved by the City 
Manager. 
 

10.7. Assignment. The Developer shall not assign any part of this Agreement without the prior 
written approval of the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, except that 
the Developer may assign this Agreement to any entity under control of Gemstar without prior 
written approval of the City.  
 

10.8. Hold Harmless and indemnification. In the event any legal action or special proceeding is 
commenced by any person or entity as a result of any negligent act or omission of the 
Developer (and specifically excluding any challenge to this Agreement or any provision herein) , 
the City may elect to tender the defense of such lawsuit or individual claims in the lawsuit to 
the Developer.  In such event, the Developer shall hold the City harmless from and defend the 
City from all costs and expenses incurred in the defense of such lawsuit or individual claims in 
the lawsuit including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees and expenses of litigation and damages 
awarded to the prevailing party or parties in such litigation.  The Developer shall not settle any 
such lawsuit without the consent of the City.  The City shall act in good faith and shall not 
unreasonably withhold consent to settle. 
 

10.9. No Waiver.  Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default immediately upon 
occurrence shall not waive such breach or default. Failure of the City to declare one breach or 
default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare another breach or default. 
 

10.10. Specific Performance.  The parties specifically agree that damages are not an adequate remedy 
for breach of this Agreement and that the parties are entitled to compel specific performance 
of all material terms of this Agreement by any party in default hereof. 
 

10.11. Severability.  Each and every provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to be severable. The 
invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Agreement shall not affect the 

80 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 10 of 12 

other provisions hereof, and the Agreement shall be construed in all respects as if such invalid 
or unenforceable provision were not a part of this Agreement.  
 

10.12. Notices.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed to have been duly given if personally delivered or mailed, by first class, certified mail or 
overnight courier, with postage prepaid to the address included in the signature block below, or 
to such other person or place as one party shall furnish to the other in writing. Notices and 
payments shall be deemed given upon personal delivery or, if mailed, upon the earlier of actual 
receipt or three (3) business days after the date of mailing. 

 
10.13. Governing Law / Venue.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Washington. The venue for any cause of action arising out of this Agreement shall 
be King County, Washington. 

 
10.14. Attorney’s Fees.  If any party initiates legal proceedings related to the validity, construction, 

enforcement, interpretation or breach of this Agreement, the substantially prevailing party 
shall be entitled to all costs of such proceedings including reasonable attorney’s fees. The term 
“legal proceedings” as used in this paragraph shall include all litigation, arbitration, 
administrative, bankruptcy, and judicial proceedings, including appeals therefrom. 

 
10.15. Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of reference 

and shall be given no effect in the interpretation of this Agreement.   
 

10.16. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded against the Subject Property as a covenant 
running with the land and shall be binding on the Developer, its heirs, successors, and assigns 
until this Agreement expires on its own terms pursuant to Section 2.  

 
10.17. Full Understanding. The parties each acknowledge, represent, and agree that they have read 

this Agreement; that they fully understand the terms thereof, that they have had the 
opportunity to be fully advised by their legal counsel and any other advisors with respect 
thereto; and that they are executing this Agreement after sufficient review and understanding 
of its content. 

 
10.18. Authority.  Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of the City and the Developer 

represents and warrants that such individuals are duly authorized to execute and deliver this 
Agreement on behalf of the City or Developer, respectively. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first 

above written. 
 

 
CITY OF COVINGTON  
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100 
Covington, WA  98042 

 
Attest:  
 
By _____________________________ 
     City Clerk 
      
Approved as to form: 
By ____________________________ 
     City Attorney 

81 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 11 of 12 

 
OWNER 
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
Gemstar Properties, LLC 
1620 North Mamer Road, Bldg B 
Spokane Valley, WA  99216 
   

82 of 106



Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 12 of 12 
 

 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON) 
              ) ss. 
KING COUNTY             ) 
 
On this _________ day of ___________, 2014, before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the 
State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared _______________________, 
to me known to be an authorized representative of ____________________________, who executed 
the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that the said instrument was signed as his/her free 
and voluntary act and deed, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned.   
 
     WITNESS my hand and official seal this ______ day of _____________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Print Name) __________________________ 
      Notary Public, Residing at ________________ 
      My appointment expires: ________________ 
 

83 of 106



 Agenda Item 4   
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 12, 2014  
 
 
SUBJECT:  COVINGTON DAYS REPORT 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Karla Slate, Communications and Marketing Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT (S):    
1.  PowerPoint presentation to be given at meeting 
 
PREPARED BY:  Karla Slate, Communications and Marketing Manager 
 
EXPLANATION:     
This was the city’s second year as organizer/provider of the Covington Days Festival. The 
festival was held at a new location (Valley Medical Center South) which proved to have its 
challenges, but overall was a good venue. Festival revenues saw an increase in vendor booth fees 
and ticket sales, and attendee feedback was very positive. A vendor survey and staff debriefing 
will shed more light into the positives and negatives of this years’ festival and help us make 
decisions, improvements, or additions in coming years. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:    
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
N/A 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____Ordinance   _____Resolution        _  Motion           Other  

 
Presentation only. 

 
REVIEWED BY: Interim City Manager  
 
 

84 of 106



Agenda Item 5 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  August 12, 2014 
  
 
SUBJECT:   REVIEW PROPOSALS FOR CITY MANAGER RECRUITMENT 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT (S):   

1. Synopsis of Executive Search Firm Proposals  
2. Karras Consulting Proposal (provided separately) 
3. Prothman Proposal (provided separately) 
4. The Mercer Group, Inc.,  Proposal (provided separately) 

 
PREPARED BY:  Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel Manager  
 
EXPLANATION:    
On Monday, July 7, 2014, City Manager Derek Matheson announced his resignation 
effective August 8, 2014.  At the July 8, 2014 city council meeting, the city council 
instructed staff to acquire proposals for conducting a city manager search from three (3) 
executive search firms:  Karras Consulting, Prothman, and The Mercer Group.  For the 
meanwhile, on July 22, 2014, the city council appointed Finance Director Rob Hendrickson 
as Interim City Manager until the city manager recruitment process has been completed and 
a permanent city manager is appointed by the city council.   
 
To assist the council in comparing these proposals, Personnel Manager Noreen Beaufrere 
prepared a synopsis of the highlights of all three (3) proposals, as seen in Attachment 1. 
 
Attachments 2, 3 and 4 are the proposals submitted by Karras Consulting, Prothman, and 
The Mercer Group, Inc., respectively.  These three (3) attachments will be provided to the 
city council separately, in order to avoid making unnecessary copies of these considerably 
lengthy documents for general distribution.  Copies of these attachments, however, will be 
made available to anyone desiring such copies via their submission of a Public Records 
Request. 
 
Staff recommends that the city council choose one of the three participating firms to 
conduct the city manager search. 

 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Choose to reject all proposals and instruct staff to solicit additional proposals from 
other firms.  Staff does not recommend this alternative, as the noted firms are 
highly qualified to perform the necessary services and all have excellent reputations 
in this regard.  Therefore, pursuing other proposals would only serve to delay the 
recruitment process. 

2. Choose to conduct the recruitment using city staff.  If the city council cares to 
consider this alternative, they are advised to consider that city staff, while very 
capable of performing the search, has not acquired nor have the familiarity with the 
client base that these firms possess, which may result in a reduced applicant pool.  
 

 

85 of 106



 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Fiscal impact for the selected executive search firm’s services will range from 
approximately $24,000 to a maximum of $29,500, depending on the firm selected.  In all 
three proposals, however, this does not include additional expenses to cover travel and/or 
lodging for candidates who live outside a reasonable driving distance from Covington City 
Hall. 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance   ____ Resolution      X   Motion            Other  
 

Councilmember ___________ moves and Councilmember  
________________ seconds, to select ______________________________ 
to provide the professional services required to conduct the search for a 
city manager. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Interim City Manager, Interim Deputy Finance Director 
 
 
 
 
 

 

86 of 106



ATTACHMENT 1 
 

SYNOPSIS OF PROPOSALS FROM EXECUTIVE SEARCH FIRMS FOR CITY MANAGER RECRUITMENT 
Prepared by Personnel Manager Noreen Beaufrere for August 12, 2014 City Council Meeting  

1 of 3 
 

 

Name     
  Location      
  Yrs in 
  Business 

 
 

Traffic 
Handled 

 
 
 

Guarantee 

 
Info Gathering & 

Recruitment 
Strategies 

 
Interview 
Procedure 
Overview 

 
Background 

Checks 
Conducted 

 
 
 

Schedule 

 
 
 

Fee 

 
 

Additional 
Notes 

Karras 
Consulting 
    Olympia, 
             WA 
   25+ Years 

NW-based 
father & 
daughter 
work only 
w/ public 
sector.  
Father re-
cruited 100’s 
of local govt 
execs as WA 
State HR 
Director for 8 
years serving 
under 2 prev 
governors. 
90% of work 
is repeat or 
referrals.  
Utilized by 
Gov. Inslee to 
recruit top 
cabinet 
agency 
directors. 

If selected 
candidate 
leaves for any 
reason within 
12 months of 
their start 
date, a repeat 
search will be 
conducted for 
replacement 
at cost of 
candidate 
travel and 
advertising, 
only.  
 
 
 

Meet w/ council, staff 
& interface  
w/stakeholders; 
design profile & bro-
chure; develop recruit-
ment strategy & advtg 
plan; develop content 
of screening intvws, 
panel makeup & 
interview questions.  
Adv & recruit, conduct 
screening interviews.  
Review & recommend 
both A & B list 
candidates w/Council; 
conduct semi-finalist 
& finalist intvws; hold 
public reception 
w/finalists; present 
candidate profiles & 
background reports; 
assist w/candidate 
selection & negotiate 
employment package. 

Mt w/council 
to rvw 8-12 
pre-qual.  
Provide re-
ports on edu-
cation, exp & 
quals.  @ 4-6 
become fina-
lists.  6-8 city 
officials, staff, 
stakeholders 
form prelim 
screening 
panel. 
Screening incs 
15-min PP 
presentation 
& 45-min 
Q&A.  Public 
reception is 
scheduled 
day prior to 
final intvws .  

Query 
individuals 
beyond those 
references 
listed on 
resume & 
provide 
council with 
comprehensive  
report linked 
to  job’s key 
competencies 
for each 
finalist.  Also 
provide 
thorough 
criminal back- 
ground check. 

12-week 
sample 
schedule 
would 
conclude 
search by 
early to 
mid-
November. 

Total flat 
fee=$29,500 
plus travel 
& related 
expenses for 
out-of-state 
candidates. 
 

Recently 
conducted city 
manager search 
for Mill Creek 
(one of 
Covington’s 
“comparables”).  
Refined 
position core 
competencies, 
skills, abilities 
and qualities of 
ideal candidate 
w/council.  
Also strong 
focus on 
organizational 
culture, as well 
as ethics & 
integrity.  Will 
assist in 
negotiating 
employment 
agreement. 

Strengths 
- NW 

Based 

Impressive 
clientele  
demonstrates 
reputation 

  - Emphasizes 
culture & 
vision fit  

- Designs 
intvw quests 

Checks 
references 
beyond those 
supplied by 
candidate. 

  Recent 
comparable city 
(Mill Creek) 
recruitment 
may be of value  

ATTACHMENT 1

87 of 106



ATTACHMENT 1 
 

SYNOPSIS OF PROPOSALS FROM EXECUTIVE SEARCH FIRMS FOR CITY MANAGER RECRUITMENT 
Prepared by Personnel Manager Noreen Beaufrere for August 12, 2014 City Council Meeting  

2 of 3 
 

Name     
  Location      
  Yrs in 
  Business 

 
 

Traffic 
Handled 

 
 
 

Guarantee 

 
Info Gathering & 

Recruitment 
Strategies 

 
Interview 
Procedure 
Overview 

 
Background 

Checks 
Conducted 

 
 
 

Schedule 

 
 
 

Fee 

 
 

Additional 
Notes 

Prothman 
  Issaquah,  
            WA 
  13 Years  
 
(Previous 
experience 
with 
Waldron) 
 

Conducted 
>450 
recruitments 
& interim 
replacements. 
 NW-based; 
specializes in 
exec 
recruitment 
for cities, 
counties, 
districts and 
other gov’t 
agencies 
throughout 
U.S.  Every 
Prothman 
team member 
has worked 
in local 
government 

If no one is 
selected from 
finalists, will 
repeat process 
with no 
additional 
professional 
fee.  If selected 
finalist leaves 
position or is 
terminated for 
cause within 2 
yrs of hire 
date, will 
conduct 
replacement 
search with no 
additional 
professional 
fee.   

National search.  
Gather info by 
meeting with city 
council, dept. directors 
and, if directed, other 
stakeholders.  Will 
hold community 
meeting, if desired. 
Profile will contain 
ideal candidate’s 
qualifications, info on 
organization & 
community, 
compensation package 
details. 
Position advertised 5-6 
weeks. 

Review apps; 
conduct 8-15 
personal 
interviews; 
meet with 
council on 
results & 
identify 4-6 
candidates 
for final 
interview; 
explain what 
final 
interview 
process will 
look like-may 
contain 
evening 
reception. 

- 3-4 
references 
from list 
provided by 
candidate 

- Education 
Verification 

- Criminal 
history 

- Driving 
record 

- Sex offender 
check 

Max of 14 
weeks—
Sample 
schedule 
shows final 
interviews 
during last 
week of 
Oct. 2014, 
but is 
based on 
starting  
1 ½ to 2 
weeks 
earlier than 
actual 
schedule. 
Intvw end 
date 
should be 
mid-Nov. 

Total Est =  
@ $24,000 to 
$25,000 
 
$19,500 plus 
expenses 
(normally 
$4,500-
$5,500), not 
including 
travel for 
out-of-area 
candidates. 

NW-based; 
specializes in 
exec 
recruitment for 
cities, counties, 
districts and 
other gov’t 
agencies 
throughout U.S.  
Every 
Prothman team 
member has 
worked in local 
government. 

Strengths 
-  NW 

Based 

- Extensive 
recruitment 
for local 
govt 

- Total team 
worked in 
local govt 

- Good local 
reputation 
 

- Guarantee 
lasts 2 years 

- Repeat 
recruitment 
w/o add’l 
professional 
fee if no one 
chosen 

On par with others On par with 
others 

- Completes 
Driving 
Record 
Check 

- On par 
with 
others 

The most 
reasonable 
of the firms 
by $500 over 
Mercer and 
by $4,500 
over Karras. 

- Nice sample 
brochures 
provided 

88 of 106



ATTACHMENT 1 
 

SYNOPSIS OF PROPOSALS FROM EXECUTIVE SEARCH FIRMS FOR CITY MANAGER RECRUITMENT 
Prepared by Personnel Manager Noreen Beaufrere for August 12, 2014 City Council Meeting  

3 of 3 
 

Name      
Location      
  Yrs in 
  Business 

 
 

Traffic 
Handled 

 
 
 

Guarantee 

 
Info Gathering & 

Recruitment 
Strategies 

 
Interview 
Procedure 
Overview 

 
Background 

Checks 
Conducted 

 
 
 

Schedule 

 
 
 

Fee 

 
 

Additional 
Notes 

The 
Mercer 
Group 
  Weimar,  
           CA 
  30 years 

Large firm in 
7 states (none 
in WA); pro-
vides wide 
variety of 
services.  
Assigned 
consultant 
Phillip 
Robertson  
has 27+ years 
in public sec-
tor, including 
position as 
Asst City 
Mgr 

Will keep 
working until 
placement is 
made.  If 
selected 
candidate 
leaves employ 
within 1st 
year, will redo 
search for 
direct, out-of-
pocket 
expenses 
only. 

The consultant submitted an abbreviated proposed; 
therefore, specific information was not provided, due to 
consultant’s workload and relatively short turn-around 
time.  However, from experiencing our last city 
manager search which was performed by this company, 
the process is very much in line what was described by 
the other two firms.  Personnel Manager provided 
printouts of the web pages that council was directed to 
for additional information. 

Start week of 
9/1/14. 
Negotiations 
concluded 
week of 
12/8/14.  
New city mgr 
would report 
within next 
month (likely 
beginning to 
mid-Jan 
2015). 

Total Est = @ 
is $25,500  
 
$17,500 plus 
not-to-
exceed direct 
expenses in 
the amount 
of $8,000 

In comparison 
to the other 
two firms, 
this firm has 
performed 
very little 
recruitment in 
WA State. 

Strengths 
While not 
based in 
the NW, 
we used 
this firm to 
find our 
previous 
city 
manager, 
with great 
success. 

 Works until 
placement is 
made.  If 
selected 
candidate 
leaves employ 
within 1st 
year, search 
will be redone 
for direct, out-
of-pocket 
expenses 
only. 

They administer management style testing to final 
candidates. 

On par with 
others 

Only $500 
more than 
the most 
reasonable 
(Prothman) 

Although 
Clark 
Wurzberger’s 
workload 
does not 
allow him 
perform this 
search, he 
highly recom-
mends Philip 
Robertson 
and will assist 
him if and as 
necessary. 

 

89 of 106



Agenda Item 6  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 12, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  2014 SECOND QUARTER FINANCIAL REPORTS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S):   

1. 2014 Second Quarter Report 
2. Quarterly Performance Reports by Fund 
3. Major Revenue Comparison   
4. Current Investment Listing 

 
PREPARED BY:   
Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
It is the policy of the City and a requirement of state law (RCW 35A.34.240) to provide financial 
reports to the governing body on a quarterly basis.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
N/A 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
None. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:           Ordinance            Resolution  _____Motion   ___X__Other 
 

ASK QUESTIONS OF STAFF  
 

REVIEWED BY:  Interim City Manager 

90 of 106



ATTACHMENT 1

91 of 106



92 of 106



93 of 106



94 of 106



95 of 106



96 of 106



97 of 106



ATTACHMENT 2

98 of 106



99 of 106



100 of 106



101 of 106



102 of 106



ATTACHMENT 3

103 of 106



ATTACHMENT 4

104 of 106



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date:  August 12, 2014 
 
 
 

DISCUSSION OF  
FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 

 
 

7:00 p.m. Tuesday, August 26, 2014 Regular Meeting 
 
 

 (Draft Agenda Attached) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

105 of 106



For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD relay 
service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
Tuesday, August 26, 2014                                                                                                    City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION – NONE 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, 
not the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes 
per speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 

• Human Services Chair Fran McGregor:  August 14 meeting. 
• Parks & Recreation Chair Steven Pand:  August 20 meeting. 
• Planning Chair Sean Smith:  August 21 meeting; August 7 meeting canceled. 
• Arts Vice Chair Ed White:  August 14 meeting. 
• Economic Development Council Co-Chair Jeff Wagner:  July 24 meeting. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING – NONE 
 
CONTINUED BUSINESS – NONE 
 
NEW BUSINESS - NONE 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
  
ADJOURN 

Draft 
as of 08/07/14 

 

106 of 106

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�

	Consent Agenda C-1 Green Sheet 08-12-2014 Green Sheet Minutes Approval
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	06.10.2014 Special Joint Mtg w-P&R Commission
	06.10.2014 Regular Meeting Minutes
	06.24.2014 Special Meetng for Study Session Minutes
	Consent Agenda C-2 Green Sheet 08-12-2014 Voucher Green Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-2

	Consent Agenda C-2 Attachments
	Consent Agenda C-3 Green Sheet Blue Sheet, King Co ILA SoCo Park Grant Contract, 2014-08-12
	Consent Agenda C-3 Attachment 1 King Co ILA AMENDMENT B
	FOR OPEN SPACE ACQUISITION PROJECTS
	Preamble
	Amendment 1: Article 1. Recitals
	Amendment 2:  Article V. Conditions of Agreement
	Amendment 3: Article VII. Responsibilities of County

	Consent Agenda C-4 Green Sheet 2014-8-12, Blue Sheet Accepting Bid for AC Reroof
	Consent Agenda C-4 Attachment 1, Bid Tab, 7-31-2014
	Item 1 Blue Sheet Extending Moratorium on Medical Marijuana_081214
	Item 1 Attachment 1 Ordinance for Six-Month Extension of Med Marijuana Moratorium_081214
	Item 2 Blue Sheet 08-12-14 Coal Trains Blue Sheet-DV_SBS Edit
	Item 2 Attachment 1 08-12-14 Coal Trains Attachment 1 STAGGER_ RAIL_ACT_OF_1980
	Item 2 Attachment 2 a 08-12-14 Coal Trains Attachment 2a Kent Coal Train Background
	Item 2 Attachment 2 b 08-12-14 Coal Trains Attachment 2b Kent Party of Record Request
	Item 2 Attachment 3 08-12-14 Coal Trains Attachment 3 Bellingham Herald No-Coal-Initiative blocked
	Item 2 Attachment 4 08-12-14 Coal Trains Attachment 4 Eugene Resolution 5065 passed
	Item 3 Blue Sheet for Development Agreement_Covington Mixed Use
	Agenda Item 3

	Item 3 Attachment 1_ Site Plan Elevations
	CSD Site Plan.pdf
	Pages from Cov MF Updated Elevations_June 2014

	Item 3 Attachment 2_Resolution_Approve Development Agreement for Affinity and Polaris at Covington
	Item 3 Attachment 2_Exhibit A_Polaris _Affinity_ Development Agreement_081214
	DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN
	THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND GEMSTAR PROPERTIES, LLC FOR THE
	AFFINITY AT COVINGTON & POLARIS AT COVINGTON DEVELOPMENT

	Item 4 Blue Sheet 8-12-14 Covington Days Report Blue Sheet
	Agenda Item 4

	Item 5 Blue Sheet 08-12-14  Review Proposals for City Mgr Recruitment
	Agenda Item 5

	Item 5 Attachment 1 for 8-12-14 Blue Sheet
	Item 6 Blue Sheet 8_12_14 2nd Qtr Report
	Agenda Item 6

	Item 6 Attachments 1-4
	Future Agenda Cover Sheet
	08-26-2014 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, August 26, 2014                                                                                                    City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	08-12-2014 Regular Meeting Agenda.pdf
	Tuesday, August 12, 2014                                                                                                    City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA




